Northeast Utilities
1999 ANNUAL REPORT

BU ILDING ON CORE BUSINESS

CONTENTS

2

To Our Shareholders

7

Regulated Businesses

15

Competitive Businesses

20

Northeast Utilities Trustees and Officers

21

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

30

Company Report

30

Report of Independent Public Accountants

31

Consolidated Financial Statements

39

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
and related schedules

56

Northeast Utilities System Officers
Shareholder Information

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(Thousands of Dollars, except share information and statistical data)

Operating Revenues
Operating Income
Net Income/(Loss)
Basic and Diluted Earnings/(Loss) Per Common Share
Common Shares Outstanding (Average)
Dividends Per Share
Sales of Electricity (kWh - millions)
Electric Customers (Average)
System Peak Demand (MW)
Net Utility Plant
Construction Expenditures (b)
(a)

Percentage greater than 100.

(b)

Excludes nuclear fuel and leased property.

1999

$4,471,251
$ 344,537
$ 34,216
$
0.26
131,415,126
$
0.10
66,848
1,746,493
7,188.2
$3,947,434
$ 287,081

1998

$3,767,714
$ 224,727
$ (146,753)
$
(1.12)
130,549,760
$
—
41,842
1,729,250
6,454.7
$6,170,881
$ 217,009

Percentage
Increase/(Decrease)

18.7
53.3
(a)
(a)

0.7
—
59.8
1.0
11.4
(36.0)
32.3
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Michael G. Morris, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Northeast Utilities

TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

1999 was a year of progress and significant accomplishment for NU as we reached
closure on a number of issues that have been outstanding for several years. And
that progress was rewarded. NU shares rose by 28.5 percent in 1999 while the
Standard & Poor’s Utility Average was down 12.5 percent. This was the second consecutive year NU was one of the country’s best performing electric utility stocks,
something NU employees are rightfully proud of.
To arrive at this point, we needed to put a lot of uncertainty behind us, resolve our
Millstone issues, achieve a clear path to restructuring in our three-state territory, get our unregulated
businesses up and growing, and grow ourselves.
I’m pleased to say we’ve done what we had to do. Not all of it worked as well as
we would have liked (agreeing to a $225 million write-off in New Hampshire, which is subject
to approval) and some of it was painful (settling environmental and nuclear issues from the
early 1990’s at a cost of $10 million), but we learned from our past and took giant strides into
2

the future.
The strength, commitment and integrity of all our employees made it possible.
We settled a number of outstanding legal issues, we settled restructuring issues (subject to
regulatory approvals) after three years of negotiation with the state of New Hampshire and
we settled other potential nuclear and environmental litigation. Wall Street dislikes uncertainty,
and putting these issues behind us helped to move our stock significantly upward.
We divested most of our Connecticut and Massachusetts fossil fuel generating plants at
prices well above book value, and filed a plan with Connecticut regulators to auction our nuclear
plants in accordance with state restructuring law.
We restored your dividend, which had been suspended in 1997, and saw retail sales increase
over last year. We entered the millennium safely – with all the lights on!
We took a major step in achieving our vision of becoming the leading provider of energy
products and services in the Northeast with our purchase of Yankee Energy System Inc., the
parent company of the largest natural gas distributor in Connecticut. Most significant of all, I
believe we achieved that vision to grow your company with the announcement of our merger
with Consolidated Edison, Inc. The combined company will be among the largest electric and natural gas distribution companies in the United States (as measured by number of customers).

FINANCIAL

NU earned $34.2 million in 1999, compared with a loss of $146.8 million in 1998. Total revenues

were $4.47 billion, up 18.7 percent from 1998, due primarily to increased wholesale and retail
electric sales by Select Energy, our unregulated subsidiary, and a 3.8 percent increase in retail sales
by our regulated businesses, due in part to economic expansion and a hotter than normal summer.
This is the first time NU exceeded $4 billion in revenues.

On December 30, 1999, NU paid a dividend of 10 cents a share, its first dividend in 33
months. The next 10-cent quarterly dividend will be paid March 31, 2000.

NUCLEAR

Last year I said one of our major efforts in the nuclear arena would be to return Millstone Station
to service and restore its reputation as being among the best in the industry. The men and
women at Millstone worked tirelessly to bring the plants back on line safely. Millstone unit 2’s
return to service in May benefited the NU system by about $15 million a month in lower
operation and maintenance costs and the elimination of replacement power costs, and added $6
million a month in revenues.
Since July 1999 (after refueling outages at Millstone 3 and Seabrook), all our nuclear plants –
Millstone 3, Millstone 2 and Seabrook – have been operating at a capacity factor of better than
92 percent.
Late in the year we filed our plan with the Connecticut Department of Public Utility Control
(DPUC) for The Connecticut Light and Power Company (CL&P) to divest its nuclear assets. This
fall, the Board of Trustees reached the very difficult decision that we would not seek to buy them
through an unregulated subsidiary, although the law allows us to do so.
In order to be a successful nuclear operator in a deregulated environment, it would be necessary to buy and run several nuclear facilities to take advantage of economies of scale. We
assessed the opportunity for success under this scenario and decided divestiture would best serve
our customers, shareholders and Millstone employees. We will request that the new owner
provide employment protection for the station’s work force.

GENERATING PLANT AUCTIONS

Restructuring legislation in Connecticut and Massachusetts required that CL&P and Western
Massachusetts Electric Company (WMECO) divest their fossil fuel and hydroelectric generating
assets, and auctions were held in both states. In Massachusetts, WMECO completed the sale in
late July of 290 megawatts of non-nuclear generation to Consolidated Edison Energy, Inc. for
$47 million, nearly four times the units’ value. CL&P’s fossil assets were sold to NRG Energy,
Inc., a subsidiary of Northern States Power Company, for $460 million, more than six times
book value. Proceeds from those sales were used to repay debt, strengthening our finances.
In July, Northeast Generation Company, an unregulated NU subsidiary created to
buy and hold generating assets in support of Select Energy’s power sales contracts, won the
bid for hydroelectric generation in Connecticut and Massachusetts, most notably the Northfield
Mountain pumped storage facility, with an offer of $865.5 million. Those plants should serve
as an excellent foundation for our power marketing business.
The settlement we reached with the state of New Hampshire will require that we auction
Public Service Company of New Hampshire’s (PSNH) generating assets, which we anticipate
will happen some time in 2000. The Seabrook nuclear power plant must be auctioned prior to
December 31, 2003.
I want to thank all the NU employees who worked hard over the years to make our
fossil/hydro fleet among the best in the industry. For those who have chosen to stay with the
plants, we wish them well. For those who have chosen to retire, we say thanks, and for those
who have joined our unregulated generation company, we wish you success.
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left to right:

Hugh C. MacKenzie

John H. Forsgren

Michael G. Morris

Bruce D. Kenyon

Cheryl W. Grisé

President-

Executive Vice President

Chairman, President and

President-

Senior Vice President,

Retail Business Group

and Chief Financial

Chief Executive Officer

Generation Group

Secretary and

Officer

General Counsel

ENVIRONMENTAL

NU remains committed to good environmental citizenship. We made some

mistakes in the past, and in September we put the last significant issues behind
us when two NU subsidiaries pleaded guilty in federal court to 25 violations
of federal environmental and nuclear laws and agreed to pay $10 million in
fines and contributions. The charges concerned nuclear training and environmental issues at Millstone Station and environmental issues at our Devon fossil
fuel plant in the mid 1990’s.
We paid a steep price for that failure, and we are working hard to prevent
anything like that from happening again. We have worked to rebuild trust and improve
our performance, and we have made significant progress on both fronts.
In January, the senior management team began the process of reviewing all environmental events and near misses to demonstrate our commitment to the people of NU, those who
4

regulate us, and the communities in which we do business.

NEW HAMPSHIRE SETTLEMENT

In August, PSNH and the state of New Hampshire filed a settlement with state regulators of
outstanding rate and restructuring issues that will bring competition and customer choice to the
state. This suspended pending litigation and resolved negotiations that had been ongoing since
1997. Public Utility Commission hearings were held in late 1999 and early 2000, and we expect
to hear in March if the agreement will be accepted. Presuming the settlement is approved, the
legislature must still give final approval to securitization.

RESTRUCTURING

Choice of electric supplier went into effect in Connecticut on January 1, 2000, for some state
residents, with the rest to follow in July. The Connecticut DPUC did an excellent job of implementing the state’s restructuring law, and CL&P fared reasonably well as regulators worked out
the implementation details.
Rates were cut 5 percent in January 2000 which, when added to previous rate cuts, enabled
CL&P to meet the mandate that rates be at least 10 percent below December 31, 1996 levels.
CL&P was allowed to recover $126 million of its investment in the retired Millstone 1 nuclear

power plant, and the DPUC allowed the company to recover a significant amount of its nuclear
investment as stranded costs.
In September, the Massachusetts Department of Telecommunications and Energy (DTE)
issued its final ruling on WMECO’s restructuring plan, confirming that its 11.8 percent rate
decreases in 1999 complied with the state’s restructuring law, and approving the recovery of
$785 million in stranded costs, which will be offset by the proceeds of WMECO’s auction of its
generating plants. The DTE disallowed any return on Millstone 2 and Millstone 3 while they

were out of service and disallowed a return on WMECO’s investment in Millstone 1, although
the company was allowed to recover its operating and maintenance costs for the unit. This, too,
was a very balanced implementation of Massachusetts’ restructuring law.

GROWTH IN UNREGULATED BUSINESSES

Select Energy realized an 18-fold increase in revenues in 1999 over the previous year, with sales
of approximately $550 million. It is registered to do business in all 11 Northeast states and is
actively marketing and serving customers in seven states. HEC Inc., our energy services company,
posted the highest sales and profits in its 18-year history, and Northeast Generation Services
Company exceeded its first-year revenue target with sales of $5 million. The growth in demand
for broadband communication services has resulted in an impressive increase in the value of our
Mode 1 telecommunications subsidiary’s investment in NorthEast Optic Network, Inc. (NEON).

MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS

In June, NU announced a merger agreement with Yankee Energy System, Inc., the parent of
Yankee Gas Services Company, the largest natural gas distributor in Connecticut. All regulatory
and legal approvals have been received and we expect the merger to close in March. You can
read more about Yankee in the next section of this report.
On October 13, NU and Consolidated Edison, Inc. of New York (Con Edison) announced
a merger that valued NU at more than three times the level at which our shares traded three
years ago. When approved, the combined company will be among the largest electric and natural
gas distribution companies in the country.
With all the consolidation going on in the industry, we realized we needed to combine with
another company in order to grow in the new competitive environment. Con Edison is the ideal
fit – we share similar businesses, regulated and unregulated, and similar strategies for growth. In
fact, with this merger, NU achieves its vision of becoming an energy leader in the Northeast. The
enterprise value of the new company (market value of debt and equity) will be about $19 billion,
providing the financial resources needed to grow and prosper in the future.
The combined company will be headquartered in New York City. NU’s operating companies
(CL&P, WMECO, PSNH and Yankee) will continue to be based in their respective states.
Many of you stayed with us through all our difficulties of the past several years, and I thank
you for your support. I am pleased we are able to reward your patience with the increased value of
your investment in NU that our accomplishments of the past two years have made possible. I hope
you will remain with us once we merge with Con Edison and benefit from being a shareholder in
what I believe will be one of the strongest, most profitable energy companies in the United States.
Lastly, I want to thank the retirees of the NU system for their many years of productive
work and their strong support during these very trying times. Once the Con Edison merger is
complete, we all can be proud of the future NU.
Sincerely,

Michael G. Morris
Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer
February 9, 2000
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CL&P
CONNECTICUT LIGHT AND POWER

HUGH C. MACKENZIE

Since 1917, The Connecticut Light and Power Company (CL&P) has played a major role in the growth and vitality of

President, Retail Business Group

Connecticut’s economy and quality of life. As the state’s largest electric utility, CL&P provides 1.1 million customers with

President, CL&P

safe and reliable electricity while supporting a wide variety of economic development initiatives and community activities.
Now in its second century of service, CL&P seeks to strengthen even more its relationships with residential,
municipal, commercial and industrial customers in the 149 cities and towns it serves through
programs in energy conservation, environmental stewardship and community development. In
addition, CL&P’s 2,300 employees volunteer hundreds of hours each year in support of the
communities in which they live and work.
In 1999, CL&P’s numerous community activities included conducting more than 400 energy
conservation workshops for customers in disadvantaged communities, weatherization services for thousands of
low-income households, and hundreds of jointly sponsored community meetings with representatives from municipal
and social service agencies.
As we enter the 21st century, CL&P is reinventing itself to reflect the changing regulatory landscape and the
needs of its customers. In 2000, programs that promote economic growth, advance energy efficiency and strengthen
community vitality will be among its top priorities, demonstrating once again that Connecticut Light and Power is
“The Energy of Connecticut.”

REGULATED BUSINESSES

Our regulated businesses experienced a momentous year. Deregulation agreements in three New England states transformed the competitive landscape,
sharply reduced rates for electricity consumers, and presented our operating
companies with new challenges. Foremost among these is to concentrate on
efficiently, reliably and safely delivering electricity to homes and businesses. As the
foundation of the Northeast Utilities system, our core transmission and distribution
companies, in their newly defined role, will be able to help our competitive businesses grow substantially in emerging markets.
CL&P stands ready to meet the

Two of the three companies – The Connecticut Light and Power Company (CL&P) and

challenges of the new energy market-

Western Massachusetts Electric Company (WMECO) – have already sold their non-nuclear

place, and its commitment to a

generating assets and are operating solely in the transmission, distribution and customer service

high level of customer satisfaction

businesses. Public Service Company of New Hampshire (PSNH) awaits final regulatory and
legislative approvals before going forward with the sale of its generating assets.

is on the line around the clock

In 1999, NU system companies’ economic and community partnerships with state and pri-

every day. Courteous and knowl-

vate business development groups led to the recruitment and expansion of 138 businesses that

edgeable personnel demonstrate

will add 8.3 million square feet of business space and more than 8,100 new jobs in our Connecticut,

CL&P’s focus on customer service

Massachusetts and New Hampshire service areas.

and satisfaction on each customer
call. Pictured at left are Customer
Service staff from our Wethersfield
Call Center: (foreground from left)
Emma Williams, Linda Stewart;

Our regulated portfolio of companies began to expand its market reach with the announcement that Yankee Energy System, Inc. (YES) of Meriden, Connecticut, agreed to merge with NU.
The Yankee merger strengthens NU in significant ways. YES subsidiary Yankee Gas is the largest
natural gas distributor in Connecticut and has one of the most modern gas distribution systems
in the region.
In a year of dramatic change, the Yankee merger restores one of our former subsidiaries to

(background from left) Luz Herrera,

the NU family, ten years after Yankee was divested. Its return is especially noteworthy at a time

Joseph Morrissey, Sabrina

when our company presses forward with its vision of being the leading provider of energy products

Caldarella, William Collins and

and services in the Northeast. Yankee and our three other regulated operating companies are

Nancy Mayer.

responding to the challenge with vigor and purpose.

CL&P – FINDING NEW FOCUS

In 1999, CL&P completed the $460 million sale of 2,235 megawatts (MW) of fossil-fueled generation in Connecticut to NRG Energy, Inc. of Minneapolis. About 280 positions were affected,
with no loss of jobs, as all CL&P employees were offered positions with the new owner.
CL&P sold its fossil fuel and hydroelectric generation assets as part of its restructuring plan

filed with the state Department of Public Utility Control (DPUC) in compliance with legislation
enacted in 1998. Proceeds from the sale helped CL&P achieve the state-mandated 10 percent
generation rate reduction by January 1, 2000, in accordance with the state’s restructuring legislation.
The DPUC also ruled that beginning in January 2000, NU’s unregulated subsidiary, Select Energy,
would be licensed to supply 50 percent of CL&P’s standard offer electric service to its customers.
In July, the DPUC issued its final decision in CL&P’s stranded cost proceeding. CL&P had
requested recovery of $4.4 billion in stranded costs. The decision approved up to $3.5 billion. It
also provided for the possible recovery of a significant portion of the remaining amount in the future
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PSNH
PUBLIC SERVICE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

W I L L I A M T. F R A I N , J R .

Public Service Company of New Hampshire (PSNH) is the Granite State’s largest electric utility, providing service to more

President and Chief

than 420,000 homes and businesses. PSNH and its 1,250 employees have worked hard to make the company one of the

Executive Officer, PSNH

most responsive and customer-focused utilities in the nation.
Originating over 70 years ago with the consolidation of a trolley car business – the Manchester Traction, Light and
Power Company – and several power companies from around the state, PSNH today provides service in 198
communities, covering 5,445 square miles.
With three fossil fueled generating plants and nine hydroelectric facilities, PSNH has over 1,110 megawatts of
generating capacity. This generation, and contracts PSNH has for additional supply, provide an ample and diverse supply
of energy – the foundation for continued economic growth and prosperity in New Hampshire.
Along with a dedication to providing high-quality, reliable electric service, PSNH is committed to promoting the
growth and vitality of New Hampshire’s businesses and communities. Following through on its “Supporting Your Life in
Every Moment” corporate philosophy, PSNH works in partnership with the state to initiate and support a variety of
economic and community development activities, with many focused on nurturing small business growth. The company
has also made community involvement a central part of its identity and culture, actively supporting volunteerism and a
wide array of nonprofit organizations throughout the state. In 1997, PSNH was recognized as Business of the Year for its
efforts on behalf of New Hampshire communities.

through adjustments based on future market prices of power. Stranded costs represent historical
investments, deferred expenses and long-term contractual commitments for power that were
approved by the DPUC under full regulation, and which may be above market value in a competitive environment.
To foster earnings growth in this new business climate, CL&P has established strategic
business plans focusing on continued improvements in system reliability, maximizing the performance of its distribution assets, aggressively exploring additional economic development initiatives,
and promoting energy efficiency.
Through its Economic and Community Development department, CL&P works in partnership
with local, state and regional government to support and promote economic vitality and to
PSNH employees have conducted

explore opportunities for growth. In 1999, CL&P’s partnership with state and business develop-

restoration efforts successfully and

ment groups led to the recruitment and expansion of 58 companies, adding more than 1.3

safely during the most adverse

million square feet of business space and over 1,700 new jobs. CL&P’s deep commitment

weather conditions. In addition

to communities is exemplified through its renowned Main Street program. Since its inception

to handling storm situations and

in 1995 when CL&P became the first electric utility in the nation to sponsor a statewide Main

outages in its own state, PSNH –
like its sister utilities, CL&P and
WMECO – has repeatedly offered

assistance to other utilities in times
of need, both in neighboring states

Street program, the six Main Street communities have attracted more than 70 new businesses
which have created nearly 600 new jobs.
Sharing its expertise, knowledge, equipment and personnel, CL&P in 1999 took the lead
in a pioneering effort by Hartford city leaders to train unemployed residents in basic construction
job skills in response to a $1.3 billion building boom.
While CL&P stands ready to meet the challenges of the new energy marketplace, its com-

and as far away as Canada and

mitment to a high level of customer satisfaction remains a top priority. In addition to improved

Puerto Rico.

reliability, quick response time and other customer services, CL&P continues to apply cutting edge

In any kind of weather, PSNH
employees understand the importance

technology to enhance its value to customers and shareholders alike. By enabling its customers to
receive, review and pay monthly bills electronically, both they and the company save time and
money. CL&P also responds to inquiries, receives information and communicates with current and

of working as a team and maintaining
the highest levels of safety and service
in meeting customers’ needs.

prospective customers via its Internet site, www.cl-p.com.
The company has increased its distribution spending budget for 2000 and plans to make
substantial investments in its infrastructure to replace older overhead and underground distribution
facilities and substations. In 1999, reliability on the CL&P electric system reached record levels
of performance, capping more than a decade of steady improvement.
CL&P is recognized as a valued community partner, and the company remains solidly com-

mitted to programs and initiatives that maintain and enhance the economic health of the region,
recognizing a clear correlation between the well-being of a community and the public utility that
serves it. Reflective of this commitment, CL&P is a major supporter of the influential Connecticut
Economic Resource Center, which coordinates the state’s economic development marketing and
industry strategies.
In 1999, CL&P’s numerous community activities included conducting more than 400 energy
conservation workshops for customers in disadvantaged communities; providing weatherization
services for 4,000 low-income households; hosting meetings for more than 500 representatives
from social service agencies and local officials, and promoting an active volunteer program in
support of various community needs.

PSNH – A RESTRUCTURING AGREEMENT IS REACHED

In August 1999, the state of New Hampshire together with PSNH and NU announced a comprehensive restructuring agreement. The agreement, which still requires regulatory and legislative
approval, resolves all PSNH regulatory, financial and legal issues, and introduces choice and
competition to New Hampshire customers.
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WMECO
WESTERN MASSACHUSETTS ELECTRIC COMPANY

KERRY J. KUHLMAN

Western Massachusetts Electric Company (WMECO) is a regulated distribution company serving approximately

President and Chief

200,000 customers in 59 communities in western Massachusetts, including Springfield, Pittsfield and Greenfield.

Operating Officer, WMECO

WMECO celebrated its 100th anniversary in 1986, existing prior to 1942 as four separate companies.

In November 1997, Massachusetts approved legislation enabling utility restructuring, allowing consumers to
choose their generation suppliers. The legislation went into effect in March 1998. Today, WMECO operates
solely as a distribution company.
The company has programs to meet its customers’ special needs and for economic and
community development. For example, WMECO is partnering with the city of Pittsfield’s
Economic Development Authority to provide land use assessment and planning for the
former General Electric complex, as well as identification of specific industry clusters that
will support its economic development initiatives.
WMECO also is active in such community initiatives as funding an environmental education center with the Girl Scouts

and establishing an ongoing environmental partnership with them, donating meters to the University of Massachusetts
for its research project to measure the efficiency of the school’s 20 electric vehicles, supporting the Regional
Employment Board’s Summer Jobs Program, and reaching out to the community to share information about WMECO’s
residential discount rate and other programs that can help customers better manage their energy needs.

The final agreement was jointly developed by New Hampshire Governor Jeanne Shaheen,
PSNH and NU, the Office of Attorney General, the Governor’s Office of Energy and Community

Services, and senior staff members of the New Hampshire Public Utilities Commission. Throughout
the lengthy negotiation process we consistently pursued our goal of reaching a resolution outside
of litigation. Arriving at a fair and balanced agreement not only achieves this goal, it also signals
a marked improvement in the company’s relations with its regulators and the state.
In addition to bringing electric restructuring and retail choice to New Hampshire, the agreement includes a proposed rate decrease for PSNH customers of about 18 percent. As proposed
in the agreement, this rate reduction would be achieved through the sale of PSNH’s power plants,
an after-tax write-off of $225 million, and the refinancing of $725 million in stranded costs using
Through public and private partnerships
ranging from land use assessment

rate reduction bonds – a process known as “securitization.”
In addition to agreeing to sell PSNH’s power plants as part of the restructuring agreement,

and planning, to promoting environ-

NU has agreed to sell its investment in Seabrook Station, now held through its North Atlantic

mental stewardship, to job initiatives

Energy Corporation (NAEC) subsidiary, thereby canceling NAEC’s power contract with PSNH.

and general economic development,
WMECO contributes significantly to
the region’s economic vitality and
quality of life.
In Springfield, Massachusetts,
WMECO is involved in improving urban

Another milestone in the move toward choice and competition involved an agreement
between PSNH and the New Hampshire Electric Cooperative (NHEC), PSNH’s largest wholesale
customer. Announced in September 1999, the agreement terminated a long-standing wholesale
power contract between the two companies. The termination agreement includes a payment by
the NHEC to PSNH and allows the NHEC to offer its 70,000 customers significantly reduced
rates and the ability, as of January 1, 2000, to choose alternative energy suppliers.
Building on its knowledge, expertise and strong reputation for customer relations and serv-

lighting, promoting the revitalization

ice, PSNH plans to play a major role as a delivery company in the new energy marketplace. The

of Union Station, and fostering the

company will continue its aggressive account management strategy to retain and increase revenues

growth of small business. Here (left

from its existing large industrial and commercial customers. It also plans to promote targeted elec-

to right), Phyllis Magoon, General
Manager of the Springfield District,

trotechnologies for commercial and industrial applications designed to displace less efficient,
nonelectric processes.
The restructured environment provides new opportunities for PSNH to offer a variety

Maurice Nichols, Account Executive

of services to new energy suppliers. As part of this effort, the company introduced a sophis-

and Bill Connor, New Service Manager

ticated customer bill in 1999 that anticipates retail choice and the potential for offering supplier

confer outside City Hall with Springfield

billing services. PSNH also launched a redesigned and updated Web site (www.psnh.com) in

Mayor Michael J. Albano.

1999 to provide customers with online account information and enhanced self-service capabilities.
The onset of competition occurs at a time of strong economic growth in New Hampshire,
and PSNH has been a leading force in contributing to this development. In addition to
working with state and local economic development organizations to attract new businesses
to New Hampshire – and new customers to PSNH’s service territory – the company has
actively supported the growth of businesses already located in the state. These efforts have
ranged from funding an export marketing grant program allowing small New Hampshire
companies to enter or expand into international markets, to assisting business incubators and
downtown revitalization programs, and supporting work force development initiatives to
ensure a steady stream of skilled employees for New Hampshire companies.
As PSNH prepares for the changes in its business marketplace, one constant continues to
underlie all of its other initiatives: the company’s deep commitment to New Hampshire’s communities and the environment, such as PSNH’s sponsorship of the production and distribution of
a detailed curriculum for educators’ use in teaching New Hampshire history. PSNH is also the
first utility in the nation to use sheep to graze its power line rights-of-way as an environmentally
friendly alternative to traditional vegetation control methods.

11

CORE BUSINESS

12

YankeeGas
YANKEE ENERGY SYSTEM, INC.

CHARLES E. GOOLEY

Yankee Energy System, Inc. (YES), headquartered in Meriden, Connecticut, is a diversified company specializing in

President and Chief

the distribution, conversion and control of energy to meet its customers’ needs. YES’ principal operating subsidiary,

Executive Officer,

Yankee Gas Services Company (Yankee Gas), the largest natural gas distribution company in Connecticut, serves

Yankee Energy System

more than 185,000 customers in 69 cities and towns. YES’ other operating subsidiaries support its core business and
promote the growth and expansion of its energy-related services.
Yankee Energy Services Company (YESCo) provides a wide range of energy-related services,
including engineering, installation, and maintenance of building control systems; comprehensive heating,
ventilating and air conditioning; and boiler and refrigeration equipment installation and services.
R.M. Services, Inc. provides receivables management services for companies throughout the
United States, and Yankee Energy Financial Services Company provides a full range of residential, commercial and
industrial equipment and energy-related improvement financing options through the Energy Key and Hometown Energy
Loan programs. Another subsidiary, NorConn Properties, owns selected system real estate and leases it to Yankee Gas.
On June 14, 1999, YES announced that it had agreed to merge with Northeast Utilities. The merger closed in
March 2000, and YES is being successfully integrated into the NU family. Post merger, YES is being restructured to
focus on its core business. Among the changes taking place is the integration of YESCo with NU’s unregulated
subsidiary HEC Inc.

At a 1999 Earth Day ceremony, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency honored PSNH with an
Environmental Merit Award in recognition of this unique pilot program. With a long-standing
tradition of volunteerism, PSNH employees are leaders in hundreds of community organizations,
making a tremendous impact on the state’s landscape – from economic and community development, to environmental protection, education, social services and the arts.

WMECO – BUILDING ON OUR STRENGTHS

In July 1999, WMECO successfully concluded the sale of 290 MW of its fossil fuel and hydroelectric
generating facilities for $47 million to Consolidated Edison Energy, Inc. of New York. The sale
price was 3.8 times greater than the assets’ 1997 book value of $12.5 million. Proceeds from the
Being part of NU gives Yankee Energy
System the backing it needs for potential expansion of Yankee’s businesses,

sale above book value are being used to reduce WMECO’s stranded costs, which include unrecovered
investments WMECO made under regulation to meet its obligation to serve all customers.
The sale did not include WMECO’s 19 percent interest in the 1,080 MW Northfield Mountain

including serving as the platform for

pumped storage project and related hydroelectric facilities, which were packaged with CL&P’s

the strategic growth of the natural gas

ownership share in the facility and sold as a unit later in the year. (See the “Competitive Business”

business. Here, Yankee Gas installs a

section of this report for more details.)

new high density polyethylene gas

In September, the Department of Telecommunications and Energy issued a final restructuring
order allowing the recovery of $785 million in stranded costs. The order allowed the balance on

main to serve a new branch of the
U.S. Postal Service in South Windsor,
Connecticut. The use of plastic pipe

the decommissioned Millstone 1 plant to be treated as a regulatory asset to be recovered through
a transition charge over a 12-year period.
WMECO has complied with the state-mandated 5 percent rate reduction which went into

lowers the overall cost of the instal-

effect in September, in accordance with the state’s restructuring legislation. This reduction is in

lation and maintenance, allowing

addition to the mandated reduction of 10 percent that went into effect March 1, 1998.

Yankee to be more competitive.

With its regulatory issues now addressed, WMECO is moving forward aggressively with
growth plans to become the premier electric distribution service provider in Massachusetts. To
achieve this goal, WMECO will strive to maintain and improve customer satisfaction through
operational enhancements and innovations, expand its economic development partnerships,
maintain its commitment to promoting quality of life issues in the communities it serves, and
provide a work environment that fosters employee ownership and pride.
WMECO’s strengths include its modern infrastructure, solid record of reliability, cost-effective

operations, and commitment to economic development of the region’s communities. Through its
involvement in both public and private partnerships at the local and regional level, WMECO continues to contribute significantly to the economic revitalization and quality of life in its service
area. These partnerships range from urban lighting improvements in the city of Springfield to the
transfer of almost 1,600 acres of land in Montague to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts to
protect endangered species and preserve land for public outdoor recreation.
WMECO continues to be a proponent of energy efficiency throughout its service territory,

offering services totaling about $2.1 million that are expected to save residential customers 8 million kilowatt-hours of electricity annually. Similar programs for commercial and industrial customers
are expected to save over 18 million kilowatt-hours of electricity annually.

YES – A STRATEGIC FIT

In June 1999, NU and Yankee Energy System, Inc. (YES) agreed to a merger in which YES will
become a subsidiary of our company. YES formally joined the NU family in March 2000 after
receiving all the necessary legal and regulatory approvals.
The YES acquisition is a strategic fit for our company, and it enables NU to grow its customer base in the Northeast while helping to diversify the products and services we offer. By
combining the two companies’ core competencies, we can achieve tactical synergies in such areas
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as information technology and customer service. The merger also reduces NU’s susceptibility
to seasonal energy use fluctuations because while natural gas demand peaks during the winter,
electricity consumption peaks during the summer.
In the fiscal year ended September 30, 1999, YES reported earnings of $13.4 million, compared to $10.9 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1998. The company achieved
these results even though its regulated utility, Yankee Gas, was substantially affected by warmer
than normal weather in both fiscal years. A large portion of the earnings growth was attributable
to the significant improvement in performance at YES’ unregulated businesses.
Other 1999 highlights include:
• Launching of a state-of-the-art Customer Information System designed to enhance customer
service, improve efficiency, and provide the tools to grow in today’s competitive energy environment. This system will support Yankee’s order processing, meter reading, billing, payment
processing, credit and collections and accounting functions.
• Introduction of Energy Key Commercial Financing, a unique loan program for energy
efficient plant and equipment upgrades to commercial and industrial businesses located in
southern New England.
• Three awards for safety performance, presented by the American Gas Association, the New
England Gas Association and the Connecticut Business and Industry Association.
• An economic development grant to the Meriden Business & Learning Center, building on
the prior year’s support for this work force development program.
• Its third successive award for Web site (www.yankeegas.com) excellence from the Web
Marketing Association, Inc.
Over the past year, YES conducted an extensive analysis of its customer base, focusing
14

on current and prospective customers. The company has also reorganized its sales force with a
goal of better knowing and reaching out to its customers. Looking ahead to 2000 and beyond, YES
has established three critical success factors: achieving profitable growth, effectively managing
costs, and exerting a positive influence on legislative and regulatory affairs.
Underpinning these goals will be the continued integration of YES into the NU family.
By reaching its goals, YES will support NU’s vision of being the leading provider of energy
products and services in the Northeast.

NUCLEAR – RECOVERY ACCOMPLISHED

In September, NU announced that the Millstone Station nuclear power plant assets of CL&P,
WMECO and PSNH would be put up for public auction. In November, CL&P filed its divestiture

plan for Millstone Station with the state DPUC. The plan calls for auctioning all three units at
the station as a single package in 2000. After evaluating the role of nuclear generation in our company’s future, NU’s Trustees decided that none of our subsidiaries will bid for the nuclear assets.
Following a three-year shutdown, Millstone unit 2 resumed full power operation in May.
In 1999, the unit achieved a 90.3 percent capacity factor following restart. Millstone 3 has had
an excellent cycle as well, with a 98.1 percent capacity factor in 1999 following its refueling
outage in May. Millstone 1 is being decommissioned.
In 1999, Millstone was under budget despite the challenges of both the unit 2 restart and
a scheduled unit 3 refueling outage. The station successfully fulfilled the requirements of several
Nuclear Regulatory Commission orders imposed during recovery, and its Operator and Technical
Training programs were reaccredited. Millstone’s Safety Conscious Work Environment has improved
and the station’s Employee Concerns Program is regarded as among the best in the country. In
2000, the station will apply its comprehensive strategic plan to position Millstone on the path to
“best of best” performance in the nuclear industry.

Seabrook Station in New Hampshire also achieved excellent results in 1999. The plant’s
capacity factor for the year was 86.4 percent, despite conducting a scheduled refueling
outage. From the start of its seventh operating cycle until the end of the year, the plant achieved
a cycle capacity factor of over 98 percent. In 1999, Seabrook’s safety and operational performance improved in a number of key areas, while the cost of production decreased. During
the past year, over $19 million was invested in new plant modifications to improve personnel safety, reduce the length of future refueling outages and increase the efficiency of plant
operations and maintenance. For 2000, the station will continue to implement its strategic
initiatives to further enhance safety, operational performance and reduce production costs.

A SUCCESSFUL TRANSITION TO THE MILLENNIUM

NU capped five years of planning and adapting its information technology systems, software

and devices with date sensitive computer chips with an incident-free, successful transition to the
year 2000. More than 650 NU system employees directly supported the effort. YES also made a
smooth transition into 2000. As a result of exceptionally detailed planning, efficient work processes
and superb project management, NU achieved Y2K readiness on time and 50 percent under the
original budget estimate.

COMPETITIVE BUSINESSES
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As deregulation takes effect throughout our service area, our unregulated
competitive businesses are seizing opportunities for growth.
In 1999, Select Energy, Inc. increased its revenues to approximately
$550 million from $30 million in 1998, while over that same period its
customer base increased to 17,000 from 6,000. During the past year, Select
Energy expanded its portfolio to include the wholesale marketing activities
formerly carried out by NU’s regulated businesses, and has become New England’s
leading competitive energy provider.
In 1999, Select Energy was awarded a power supply contract worth $100 million by
Boston-based NSTAR, the former BEC Energy (Boston Edison) and Commonwealth Energy System.
This six-month contract, which runs through June 30, 2000, follows Select Energy’s prior 12-month
contract to supply power to Boston Edison customers who chose standard offer electric service.
Select Energy also provides wholesale power supply for CL&P and GPU Energy’s Metropolitan
Edison Company and Pennsylvania Electric Company. The CL&P contract will generate anticipated
revenues of approximately $1.5 billion over its four-year term, while the one-year GPU deal will
produce $50 million in revenue.
On the retail side, Select Energy has moved aggressively to market its energy supply and
services portfolio. In Connecticut, Select Energy became the first licensed supplier of competitive
electric generation services. In 1999, Select Energy contracted with 79 municipalities in Massachusetts
to provide power and energy efficiency services. Select Energy is also registered to sell natural gas
through all of the major local distribution companies in the state. In Rhode Island, the company
sells energy and monitoring services to large commercial customers and, through the Rhode
Island League of Cities and Towns, to local municipalities. The company is also active in New
York, New Hampshire, Pennsylvania, Maine, New Jersey, Maryland and Delaware.
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Select Energy
EVERYTHING IN OUR POWER. GUARANTEED.

W I L L I A M W. S C H I V L E Y

Select Energy has successfully positioned itself as New England’s leading integrated energy solutions company, and

President, Select Energy

continues to expand its business throughout the 11-state northeastern region. The Select Energy brand combines the
expertise of three of NU’s competitive businesses – Select Energy, Inc.; HEC Inc.; and Northeast Generation Services
Company – to provide business and institutional customers with wholesale and retail energy supply, energy-related
services, and power facilities management and operation.
Select Energy’s retail portfolio includes energy supply (electricity, natural gas and other fuels), energy
services, energy products and equipment, and energy information resources. The company manages a network
of affiliate and partnership resources to deliver customized energy solutions for customer savings.
Select Energy’s wholesale marketing and trading group procures, markets, manages and schedules electricity and
natural gas. It also provides transmission services and manages and markets the output of Northfield Mountain (1,080 MW
pumped storage and 59 MW run of river hydro) and Holyoke Water Power’s Mt. Tom Station (147 MW coal-fired).
Select Energy’s HEC affiliate serves customers in and beyond the Northeast. In 1999, HEC received the “Energy
Saving Performance Contractor” designation from the U.S. Departments of Energy and Defense. In that capacity, HEC’s
projects include building a gas pipeline, replacing inefficient plants and upgrading controls and lighting.
Northeast Generation Services (NGS) provides operation and maintenance services to large industrial and
generation customers. NGS has been selected by NU’s Northeast Generation Company (NGC) subsidiary to manage and
operate the plants now owned by NGC in Connecticut and Massachusetts.

Retail growth has been affected by several market factors. In 1999, there was record-breaking

Shaw’s Supermarkets has over 170
locations throughout New England,

demand for electricity and significant increases in electricity generation costs due to rising oil prices.

and chose Select Energy to supply

As a result, wholesale electric power costs in New England were above the retail rates available

electricity for most of its stores, dis-

through local distribution companies (LDC) for standard offer and default service. In most cases,
LDC standard offer rates were set by regulators prior to the rise in generation costs. These below-

tribution centers and offices located
in Massachusetts and Rhode Island

market rates, which customers receive automatically from their LDC in deregulated markets, have
become the option of choice for many consumers, slowing the development of competitive retail markets.

(only stores in municipal electric

Select Energy has dramatically increased its natural gas presence in the competitive energy

territories are excluded). Shaw’s keeps

market by acquiring the 651 New England retail customer contracts and 8.4 billion cubic feet of

a close eye on energy management,

associated natural gas supplies of Aurora Natural Gas LLC of Dallas. Direct sales force activity

because it keeps costs down for

also contributed to this significant growth, as Select Energy was chosen by the Massachusetts

them and for their customers.
Kathy Loftus, Shaw’s energy and
regulatory affairs manager, discusses

Health and Educational Facilities Authority to supply natural gas to over 300 member locations.
Central to Select Energy’s growth are its technology investments in customer billing, load
analysis systems and electronic data interfaces to exchange information with local distribution
companies. Select Energy has developed a secure Internet site that allows aggregators to track

lighting and refrigeration technology

their members’ energy use and billing data. Customers also now have online access to the Select

with Select Energy account executive

Energy Depot’s energy-related products and services at www.selectenergy.com.

Richard Chagnon as part of an ongoing
commitment to implementing creative
energy management solutions.

MAJOR CONTRACTS SPUR GROWTH

In 1999 our energy engineering and design firm, HEC Inc., posted the highest sales and profit
results in its history. The U.S. Departments of Energy and Defense selected HEC as an “Energy
Saving Performance Contractor,” authorizing the company to upgrade major federal facilities
across the U.S. and overseas. HEC has orders from Fort Huachuca in Arizona, Portsmouth Naval
Shipyard in Maine, and Tobyhanna Army Depot in Pennsylvania.
Continuing its strategic expansion toward greater vertical integration, HEC
formed Select Energy Contracting, Inc. and acquired northern New England’s
largest mechanical contractor, Denron Plumbing and HVAC, Inc.

BROADBAND – COMMUNICATIONS AT THE SPEED OF LIGHT
Portland

Through our Mode 1 Communications subsidiary, NU leverages its
assets to capitalize on the explosive growth in demand for high-speed,
high-capacity digital telecommunication. Mode 1 has two principal
investments: a 26 percent share in NorthEast Optic Network, Inc.
(NEON) and a 28 mile fiber ring in downtown Hartford, Connecticut.
In 1999, Mode 1 constructed a $3.3 million fiber optic network in the

Washington D.C.

city called HELPNET, connecting 41 public schools and libraries. NEON
provides very high-speed backbone telecommunication services for wellknown national and regional retail telecommunication companies.
The growth in demand for high-speed communication services has

Along the Northeast corridor, from
Portland, Maine, to Washington, D.C.,
NorthEast Optic Network, Inc. (NEON)
is extending its high-speed, broad-

propelled an impressive increase in the value of Mode 1’s investment in NEON. In
1999, NEON share prices rose from a low of $9.12 in January to $62.56 at year’s end.
In November 1999, the NEON system was positioned to expand within New York
City and extend on to Philadelphia and Washington, D. C. through asset and share exchanges
with subsidiaries of Consolidated Edison, Inc. and PECO Energy. Once completed, the extended

band fiber optic network to meet

network will substantially enhance the traffic on the NEON network and the attractiveness

the escalating demand for digital

of the system to established retail telecommunication service providers.

telecommunication.
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BOLSTERING OUR FRAMEWORK, BUILDING OUR BUSINESS

Formed in 1999, our Northeast Generation Company (NGC) subsidiary purchased 1,289 MW
of hydroelectric and pumped storage generating assets through CL&P’s and WMECO’s auctions.
These assets include our Northfield Mountain hydroelectric facility, which will have its power
output marketed by Select Energy.
Also formed in 1999, Northeast Generation Services Company (NGS) leveraged many years
of power plant experience to provide a full range of industrial and consulting services totaling
$5.2 million in revenue in its initial year of operation. For 2000, NGS has set goals of earning
$45 million in revenue and having a positive contribution to earnings in its first full year
of existence.
NGS has contracts to manage and operate stations, including the hydroelectric
facilities purchased by NGC in the CL&P auction, and the fossil fuel and hydroelectric
assets of the Holyoke Water Power Company (HWP).
The customer base for industrial and consulting services is bolstered by
large industrial and commercial facilities, and the NGC and HWP plants,
Millstone Station, and generating facilities not owned by NU.
Across the spectrum of our unregulated competitive operations, we are
building on the strengths of our regulated core businesses. We are finding that
while deregulation has dramatically changed the landscape of our business, it
has unleashed an abundant amount of creativity throughout our organization.
As we make the transition to our merger with Consolidated Edison, this
same creative energy will sustain us and further our vision of being the leading
provider of energy products and services in the Northeast.
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With a combined 1,080 MW of pumped
storage capacity and 59 MW of run of
river hydroelectric power, Northeast
Generation Company’s Northfield
Mountain facility produces enough
electric power to supply the energy
needs of thousands of customers
throughout the region.

RE ALIZING OUR VISION
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ConEdison
CONSOLIDATED

EDISON, INC.

SERVICE AREAS

Consolidated Edison, Inc. is among the nation’s leading energy companies, providing electricity, natural gas and steam to

Con Edison

customers in metropolitan New York City, Westchester, Orange and Rockland counties in New York, and portions of New

Northeast Utilities

Jersey and Pennsylvania.

excludes Select Energy

The company provides a wide range of energy-related products and services to its customers through six subsidiaries:
Consolidated Edison Company of New York Inc., a regulated utility providing electric, gas and steam service to New York
City and Westchester County, New York; Orange and Rockland Utilities Inc., a regulated utility serving customers in
southeastern New York State, northern New Jersey and northeastern Pennsylvania; Con Edison Solutions, a retail energy
services company; Con Edison Energy, a wholesale energy supply company; Con Edison Development, an infrastructure
development company; and Con Edison Communications, a telecommunications infrastructure company.
On October 13, 1999, NU announced that it would be merging with Consolidated Edison, Inc. The combined company
will be the nation’s largest distribution utility with over 5 million electric customers and will serve 1.4 million gas customers
and 2,000 steam customers in urban and suburban communities with a population of more than 13 million.
The new combined company will have a strong regional foundation with the size, financial resources and capabilities
to invest in infrastructure, develop advanced technologies and respond to the growing energy and telecommunications
needs of its customers.
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M A N A G E M E N T ’ S D I S C U S S I O N A N D A N A LY S I S

FINANCIAL CONDITION

OVERVIEW

The financial improvement that began in 1998 continued throughout
1999 at Northeast Utilities (NU or the company), despite rate
reductions in Connecticut and Massachusetts, and larger operating losses at NU’s unregulated subsidiaries. NU’s results benefited
from the successful restart of the Millstone 2 nuclear unit, the
strong operating performance delivered by the Millstone 3 and
Seabrook Station (Seabrook) nuclear units, retail sales growth,
and continued control over operation and maintenance (O&M)
expenses. The financial improvement allowed NU to resume
the payment of a quarterly dividend for the first time since early
1997. NU shareholders received a common dividend of 10 cents
per share in the fourth quarter of 1999.
During 1999, NU resolved key industry restructuring issues
by establishing initial stranded cost recovery levels and standard
offer service tariffs and agreements in Connecticut and by receiving
final approval of a restructuring plan in Massachusetts. The auction
of substantially all of the fossil and hydroelectric generation
assets owned by The Connecticut Light and Power Company
(CL&P) and Western Massachusetts Electric Company (WMECO)
and the auction of their respective interests in the output of the
Millstone units, moved both companies along in their transition
into purely electric transmission and distribution companies, as
contemplated by restructuring legislation in both Connecticut
and Massachusetts. Also in 1999, the company made significant
progress toward resolving restructuring issues in the state of
New Hampshire by negotiating a global restructuring settlement
that is still subject to regulatory approval.
NU earned $34.2 million, or $0.26 per share in 1999,
compared with a loss of $146.8 million, or $1.12 per share in
1998 and a loss of $130 million, or $1.01 per share in 1997.
Absent significant one-time items, the NU system earned $0.89
per share in 1999, compared with a loss of $0.30 per share in
1998 and a loss of $0.76 per share in 1997. NU’s improved 1999
operating results are attributed to better operating performance
of its nuclear units, a strong economy and continued strong
expense control throughout the year. The 1999 results included
$83 million, or $0.63 per share, in after-tax write-offs. These
write-offs were associated with the settlement of nuclear related
issues ($0.39 per share), industry restructuring ($0.15 per share)

and fees related to the pending merger with Consolidated
Edison, Inc. (Con Edison) ($0.09 per share). During 1998,
NU recorded $133 million, or $0.82 per share, in after-tax
write-offs associated with a rate decision in Connecticut, the
retirement of Millstone 1 and nonrecurring charges at Charter
Oak Energy, an unregulated generation subsidiary of NU. The
“Agreement to Settle PSNH Restructuring” (Settlement Agreement),
involving the Public Service Company of New Hampshire (PSNH)
calls for an after-tax write-off of $225 million. However, that
write-off was not recorded in 1999, as key aspects of the
Settlement Agreement still required regulatory and legislative
approval and it was not possible to determine the ultimate
resolution of this matter at year end.
In 1999, NU’s revenues exceeded $4 billion for the first time,
totaling $4.47 billion, up 18.7 percent from revenues of $3.77
billion in 1998. The growth was primarily due to increased
electric sales by Select Energy, Inc. (Select Energy), NU’s unregulated power marketing subsidiary, and higher retail sales from
NU’s regulated subsidiaries. Select Energy’s revenues totaled
$554.9 million in 1999, compared with $29.3 million in 1998.
Revenues from the company’s regulated subsidiaries also benefited from a 3.8 percent increase in retail sales, the largest increase
in retail sales in recent history. Approximately 40 percent of
that growth was due to weather related factors that included a
hotter than normal summer. The balance of that increase was
due to economic expansion in NU’s service territories.
Aside from increased revenues, the primary reason for better
operating performance in 1999 was the return to service from
extended outages of Millstone 3 in July 1998 and Millstone 2
in May 1999. The return to service of those units reduced
replacement power costs by $215 million in 1999, compared
to 1998.
Retail rate reductions involving CL&P and WMECO offset
some of the growth in revenues. CL&P’s rates were reduced 5 percent in early 1999. CL&P’s rates were further reduced in January
2000 by 5 percent. The additional 5 percent rate reduction will
offset some of the growth in future revenues. WMECO’s rates
were reduced a total of 15 percent from its August 1997 rates,
11.8 percent adjusted for inflation, between March 1998 and
September 1999.
Sharply higher purchased-power costs at Select Energy also
offset many of the benefits from higher sales. Select Energy
recorded a net loss of $38.8 million in 1999, compared with a
net loss of $13.4 million in 1998. Also in 1999, Select Energy’s
earnings were reduced by $4.1 million related to retail contracts which extend through 2003.
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NU’s ability to continue improving financial performance in
2000 will depend largely on continued regulated sales growth
and on successful control of O&M expenses. Additionally,
NU plans to meet the challenges of assimilating Yankee Energy
System, Inc. (Yankee) into its business and achieving, by July
2000, the shareholder and regulatory approvals needed to complete
the merger with Con Edison. NU also hopes to complete in
2000 the majority of restructuring work remaining, primarily
the implementation of the Settlement Agreement in New Hampshire,
the issuance of rate reduction bonds (securitization) to lower stranded
costs at CL&P, WMECO and PSNH, and the auction of NU’s
ownership interests in the Millstone units. Additionally, during
2000, NU intends to continue focusing on the growth of its competitive businesses. NU’s ability to reverse losses in its unregulated
businesses will depend largely on the energy marketing subsidiary’s
ability to better balance its supply options, including soon to be
acquired hydroelectric generation assets, with sales commitments.
MERGERS
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In 1998 and 1999, NU management concluded that the pace
of deregulation was accelerating throughout the northeastern
United States and that shareholders would benefit from NU,
not only remaining a major provider of electric transmission
and distribution service, but also becoming an unregulated marketer of both electricity and natural gas. NU management also
concluded that as a result of the changes occurring in the highly
competitive electric utility industry, increased size would be
crucial to achieve its objective of being a leading provider of
energy products and services in the Northeast.
NU management discussed potential business combinations
with several electric utilities in the northeastern United States.
On October 13, 1999, NU announced an agreement to merge
with Con Edison, a financially stronger utility based in New
York. Con Edison will pay approximately $3.8 billion for all of
the outstanding common stock of NU and will assume NU’s debt,
capitalized leases and preferred securities which totaled $3.7
billion at December 31, 1999. Under the merger agreement,
NU shareholders will receive $25 per share, in a combination
of cash and Con Edison common stock. NU shareholders will
have the right to elect cash or stock subject to proration if the
total elections exceed 50 percent in either cash or stock. NU
shareholders who elect to receive stock will receive the number
of shares of Con Edison stock based on the average trading
prices, determined pursuant to a formula, during a fixed period

prior to the closing. So long as such average trading prices are
between $36 and $46 per share, the total value of the Con Edison
common stock received by NU shareholders will be $25 per
share. NU shareholders also have the right to receive an additional $1 per share in value as long as definitive agreements to
sell its interests (other than that now held by PSNH) in Millstone 2
and 3 are entered into and recommended by the Utility Operations
and Management Unit of the Connecticut Department of Public
Utility Control (DPUC) on or prior to the later of December 31,
2000, or the closing of the merger. In addition, another $0.0034
per share per day for every day beyond August 5, 2000, that
the merger is not consummated is added to the purchase price.
If Con Edison’s stock price is below $36 per share, then the
value received for the stock portion will be less than $25 per
share. The merger will create the nation’s largest electric
distribution system with more than 5 million customers and
one of the 15 largest natural gas distribution systems with 1.4
million customers.
NU and Con Edison filed with various state and federal
regulatory bodies in January 2000 to secure approval of the
merger. The two companies expect these regulatory proceedings can be completed by the end of July 2000.
Also in 1999, NU management concluded that the Northeast
Utilities system (NU system) would be stronger and customers
could be better served if NU reentered the natural gas distribution business that it had exited in 1989 and examined several
potential businesses in New England. By adding gas to NU’s
energy mix, NU will be able to broaden its services to its existing
customers and will have additional opportunities for long-term
growth. In June 1999, NU announced an agreement to merge
with Yankee. Yankee is the natural gas division that CL&P
divested in 1989. Yankee shareholders will receive $45 per share,
or $479.6 million in cash and NU common stock. In addition,
NU will assume Yankee’s outstanding debt of approximately
$240.8 million. Yankee shareholders will receive 45 percent of
the $479.6 million in NU common stock and 55 percent in cash.
NU will finance the cash portion of the transaction and will
meet the stock component of the transaction by issuing new
shares. NU expects to redeem a similar amount of shares later
this year by closing out forward share purchase transactions
with proceeds from restructuring. The forward share purchase
transactions were arranged in late 1999 with two financial institutions. NU is prohibited from purchasing additional shares under
its merger agreement with Con Edison. The merger will return
to NU Connecticut’s largest natural gas distribution system, as
well as several unregulated businesses involved in energy services,
collections and other areas. The Yankee merger received final
DPUC approval in December 1999 and Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) approval in January 2000. The merger is
expected to close in early March 2000.

LIQUIDITY

During 1999, strong sales growth, improved nuclear performance and continued control of O&M expenses resulted in net
cash flows provided by operations of $614.2 million in 1999,
compared to $663.3 million in 1998 and $340.6 million in 1997.
On December 15, 1999, CL&P closed on the sale of 2,235
megawatts (MW) of fossil generation assets with an unaffiliated
company. Proceeds from the sale totaled $516.9 million, including
payments for fuel and inventory. CL&P used the proceeds primarily to par call $406 million of first mortgage bonds in
December 1999. CL&P also used $57.5 million to buy out its
lease of four 40 MW turbines.
On July 26, 1999, WMECO closed on the sale of 290 MW
of fossil and hydroelectric generation assets with an affiliate of
Con Edison. Proceeds from the sale were $48.5 million.
Proceeds from these generation asset sales are included in
net cash flows provided by investing activities. Including construction expenditures and investments in nuclear decommissioning
trusts, net cash flows provided by investing activities were $151.2
million in 1999, compared with net cash flows used in investing
activities of $295.2 million in 1998 and $293 million in 1997.
The strong operating cash flows provided by NU’s regulated
businesses and the proceeds from generation asset sales enabled
the NU system to substantially reduce its outstanding debt. As
of December 31, 1999, the NU system’s total debt level, including capital lease obligations, was $3.3 billion, compared with
$3.9 billion as of December 31, 1998, and $4.1 billion as of
December 31, 1997.
The net cash flows used in financing activities were $646.4
million in 1999, compared to $375.3 million in 1998 and $98.5
million in 1997. This included $864 million paid in 1999 to
retire long-term debt and preferred stock, compared to $331.8
million in 1998 and $313.8 million in 1997. Cash dividends
on common shares paid in 1999 were $13.2 million, compared
to no cash dividends in 1998 and $32.1 million in 1997.
Payments made for preferred stock dividends were $22.8 million,
$26.4 million and $30.3 million for 1999, 1998 and 1997,
respectively.
The NU system’s access to capital also benefited from the
strong operating performance at Millstone 2 and 3, continued
progress toward the resolution of all restructuring issues in
New Hampshire and the announced merger with Con Edison.
During 1999, NU system securities received several upgrades

from three credit rating agencies. CL&P’s and WMECO’s senior
secured bonds achieved investment grade ratings for the first
time since early 1997 and PSNH’s bonds were upgraded to investment grade by Standard & Poor’s (S&P) for the first time since
early 1994. At year end, all securities were under review for
possible upgrades, or on “credit watch” with positive implications by S&P, Moody’s Investors Service and Fitch IBCA.
The rating agency upgrades benefited NU’s efforts to broaden
its credit lines. On November 19, 1999, NU parent entered into
a $350 million, 364-day unsecured revolving credit facility which
allows NU parent access to $350 million in a combination of cash
and letters of credit. NU parent provides credit assurance in the
form of guarantees of letters of credit, performance guarantees and
other assurances for the financial performance obligations of
certain of its unregulated subsidiaries, particularly Select Energy.
Over the course of 1999, NU parent sought and received approval
from the SEC to increase the limit of such credit assurance arrangements from $75 million to $500 million. However, NU is limited
under certain loan agreements to $350 million of such arrangements without creditor approval. As of December 31, 1999, NU
had provided approximately $190 million of such credit assurances.
Also on November 19, 1999, CL&P and WMECO entered into
a new 364-day revolving credit facility for $500 million, replacing
the previous $313.75 million facility which was to expire on
November 21, 1999. The revolving credit facility, which is
secured by second mortgages on Millstone 2 and 3, will be used
to bridge gaps in working capital and provide short-term liquidity. CL&P may draw up to $300 million and WMECO may
draw up to $200 million under the facility. Once CL&P and
WMECO receive the proceeds from securitization, the $500 million facility will be reduced to $300 million, with a $200 million
limit for CL&P and a $100 million limit for WMECO. As of
December 31, 1999, CL&P had $90 million and WMECO had
$123 million outstanding under this facility.
For further information regarding the NU parent revolving credit
facility and the CL&P and WMECO revolving credit facility, see
Note 3, “Short-Term Debt,” to the consolidated financial statements.
PSNH’s $75 million revolving credit agreement was terminated
on April 14, 1999. PSNH currently funds its operations through
cash on hand and operating cash flows. As of December 31, 1999,
PSNH had $182.6 million of cash and cash equivalents. On
April 14, 1999, PSNH renewed bank letters of credit that support nearly $110 million of taxable variable-rate pollution
control bonds.
CL&P also has arranged financing through the sale of its
accounts receivable. CL&P can finance up to $200 million
through this facility. As of December 31, 1999, CL&P had
$170 million outstanding under this facility. WMECO terminated its $40 million accounts receivable credit facility on
June 30, 1999.
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In late 1999, NU arranged forward purchase transactions for
approximately 10 million NU common shares with two financial institutions (counterparties). To effect these transactions, the
counterparties purchased on the open market between November
1999 and January 2000, NU common shares, at an average price
per share of $21.26, in a total aggregate amount of $215 million. The counterparties maintain ownership of the shares until
the transactions are settled. Additionally, NU will continue to
accrue fees on the total aggregate amount at LIBOR plus 2.5
percent per annum, until the transactions are settled. These transactions can be settled in cash or NU common shares at the
company’s discretion. As required under the terms of the contracts,
NU must settle the transactions no later than December 31,
2000, for an aggregate purchase price equal to $215 million.
However, NU expects to settle these purchase transactions with
the proceeds from restructuring in the second half of 2000. If prior
to the settlement date, NU’s share price falls below $15.80 per
share, NU may be required to provide the counterparties with
additional collateral.
During 2000, the NU system companies hope to receive regulatory approval to begin the process of securitizing approximately
$2.5 billion of approved stranded costs. Securitization involves
issuing rate reduction bonds with interest rates lower than the
company’s weighted average cost of capital. Proceeds from
securitization will be used to significantly reduce the capitalization
of NU’s regulated subsidiaries and buyout or buydown certain
purchased-power contracts with a number of nonutility generators.

24

RESTRUCTURING

During 1999, Connecticut and Massachusetts made significant
progress in resolving industry restructuring issues. Restructuring
orders issued in Connecticut and Massachusetts allowed NU to
determine the impacts of discontinuing Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 71, “Accounting for the Effects
of Certain Types of Regulation,” for the generation portion of
CL&P’s and WMECO’s businesses. In both states, the transmission and distribution portion of those businesses will continue
to be cost-of-service regulated. In addition, the restructuring
orders provided for a transition charge which allows for the
recovery of CL&P’s and WMECO’s generation-related
regulatory assets and prudently incurred stranded costs.
The process of restructuring the electric utility industry in
New Hampshire has not yet been concluded, however, significant progress has been made over the past year. In August 1999,
PSNH and state officials reached a Settlement Agreement,
addressing all rate and restructuring issues involving PSNH,
which is awaiting New Hampshire Public Utilities Commission
(NHPUC) approval.

CONNECTICUT

During April 1999, CL&P filed its standard offer service plan
with the DPUC and received a decision on October 1, 1999,
as amended on December 15, 1999. In that decision, the DPUC
approved the recovery of CL&P’s regulatory assets and certain
stranded costs associated with CL&P’s nuclear generation assets
and established the methodology for setting CL&P’s standard
offer rates, including the transition charge and transmission and
distribution rates. The DPUC ruled on CL&P’s stranded cost
filing in July 1999 approving $3.5 billion of stranded cost recovery, which is utilized, in part, in the determination of the
transition charge.
As provided for in the electric utility restructuring legislation
enacted in April 1998, 35 percent of CL&P’s customers were
able to choose their electric generation supplier on January 1,
2000, with the remaining 65 percent having choice on July 1,
2000. The major components of rates are a transmission and
distribution charge, a generation charge and a transition charge.
For those customers who do not or are unable to choose another
competitive electric generation supplier, CL&P will supply
standard offer or generation service at an average rate of $0.04813
per kilowatt-hour (kWh) through December 31, 2003. The revenues attributable to standard offer (generation) service are expected
to exceed the actual cost of providing generation and the difference will be applied against stranded costs. In accordance
with a plan approved by the DPUC, one-half of the CL&P standard offer load was procured through a competitive bidding
process, with the remaining one-half of the power being supplied by an affiliated company. The contracts are in place through
the end of 2003. For further information regarding commitments
and contingencies related to the Connecticut restructuring order,
see Note 7A, “Commitments and Contingencies — Restructuring
— Connecticut,” to the consolidated financial statements.
MASSACHUSETTS

Massachusetts enacted electric utility restructuring legislation in
November 1997. Based on an interim order approving WMECO’s
restructuring plan filed in December 1997, WMECO’s customers
were able to choose an alternative retail electricity supplier beginning on March 1, 1998. In 1999, the Massachusetts Department
of Telecommunications and Energy (DTE) issued its final decision
on WMECO’s restructuring plan. In that decision, the DTE
permitted WMECO to recover its generation-related regulatory asset balances and its nuclear decommissioning costs.
However, the DTE disallowed any return on Millstone 2 and 3
starting March 1, 1998, until they returned to service and on
Millstone 1 for its remaining life. The pretax impact of these
disallowances was $41 million. The DTE also approved oneyear contracts with the winning bidders of the standard offer and
default service supply auction. For further information regarding
commitments and contingencies related to the Massachusetts
restructuring order, see Note 7A, “Commitments and Contingencies
— Restructuring — Massachusetts,” to the consolidated
financial statements.

GENERATION ASSET DIVESTITURES —
CONNECTICUT AND MASSACHUSETTS

The Connecticut and Massachusetts restructuring laws required
CL&P and WMECO to divest of their nonnuclear generation
assets and utilize substantially all of the net gains from any sales
to offset stranded costs. During 1999, WMECO and CL&P sold
their nonnuclear generation assets resulting in net gains of $22.4
million and $286.5 million, respectively. A corresponding
amount of regulatory assets was amortized. In September 1999,
NU announced that the Millstone nuclear generation assets of
its subsidiaries, CL&P and WMECO, will be put up for auction
as soon as practical. For further information regarding commitments
and contingencies related to the Connecticut and Massachusetts
generation asset divestitures, see Note 7A, “Commitments and
Contingencies — Restructuring — Nuclear Generation Assets
Auction,” to the consolidated financial statements.
NEW HAMPSHIRE

In August 1999, NU, PSNH and the state of New Hampshire signed
the Settlement Agreement which will resolve a number of pending
regulatory and court proceedings related to PSNH. The Settlement
Agreement is awaiting approval of the NHPUC and is subject
to legislative approval of securitization. The key components of
the agreement include an after-tax write-off of $225 million of
stranded costs; the recovery of the remaining stranded costs; the
securitization of $725 million of approved stranded costs; the
sale of generation assets and wholesale power entitlements, with
transition service being available to customers for three years; a
reduction in rates of an average of 18.3 percent, and the opening
of the New Hampshire electricity market to competition. For further information regarding commitments and contingencies related
to the New Hampshire Settlement Agreement, see Note 7A,
“Commitments and Contingencies — Restructuring —New
Hampshire,” to the consolidated financial statements.
UNREGULATED ENERGY SERVICES

The energy marketing and brokering business is intensely competitive, with many companies with larger financial resources
than NU’s bidding for business in the deregulating New England
market. The sharply fluctuating cost of power supply caused
by, among other things, weather extremes, plant outages and
fuel costs, and a lack of load-following generating facilities,
have made it difficult for Select Energy to economically match
its wholesale power purchases with its power supply obligations.
In 1999, Select Energy recorded a net loss of $38.8 million on
revenues of $554.9 million, compared to a net loss of $13.4
million on revenues of $29.3 million in 1998. Select Energy’s ability
to economically compete has also been affected by NU’s weakened financial position caused by the extended Millstone outages

which ended in mid 1999. In 2000, Select Energy’s expected
contract with an affiliated company, Northeast Generation
Company, to purchase 1,329 MW of capacity and energy
should significantly reduce the load-following risk and allow
Select Energy to better manage its portfolio profitability.
Select Energy’s goal is to be the regional and national leader
in providing standard offer service to those Northeast markets
opened to retail competition. Currently, Select Energy provides
more than 5,000 MW of standard offer load, making it the
largest provider of standard offer service in the Northeast. On
December 22, 1999, Select Energy and an unaffiliated company
signed a 6-month power supply agreement, effective January
1, 2000, to meet the utility's standard offer service requirements,
which are expected to exceed 3,000 MW. This contract does
not include renewal or termination provisions, and payment is
due within ten days of the receipt of the bill. Select Energy has
been serving this standard offer load since December 1998.
During 1999, revenues billed to this customer totaled $276.1
million or approximately 46 percent of Select Energy’s revenues. On
January 1, 2000, Select Energy began serving CL&P with onehalf of its approximately 2,000 MW standard offer requirement
for a 4-year period. The CL&P standard offer contract does
not include renewal provisions. Select Energy can terminate the
contract if the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC)
or DPUC require changes to the contract which create material
adverse economic impact to Select Energy which cannot be cured.
These power supply contracts are expected to provide Select Energy
with over 50 percent of its revenues in the year 2000. In addition,
beginning in January 2000, Select Energy assumed responsibility
for serving approximately 30 market-based wholesale contracts,
totaling approximately 500 MW, throughout New England with
electric energy supply that was previously provided by CL&P and
WMECO. For the most part, the prices are fixed by contract and
applicable to actual volumes.
NUCLEAR GENERATION

MILLSTONE NUCLEAR UNITS

Millstone 3 received the appropriate Nuclear Regulatory
Commission (NRC) approvals and resumed operation in July
1998. Millstone 2 received similar NRC approvals, resumed
operation and was returned to CL&P’s rate base in May 1999.
Millstone 3 and 2 achieved annual capacity factors of 81.7
percent and 57.9 percent in 1999, respectively. After a 60-day
refueling and maintenance outage, Millstone 3 returned to service on June 29, 1999, and has achieved a 98.1 percent capacity
factor through December 31, 1999. Since returning to service
in May 1999, Millstone 2 has achieved a 90.3 percent capacity
factor through December 31, 1999. NU’s total share of O&M
expenses associated with Millstone 3 and 2 totaled $261.8 million in 1999, as compared to $323.2 million in 1998 and $406
million in 1997. Millstone 1 is currently in decommissioning status.
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An auction of the NU system’s ownership interests in the
Millstone units is expected in 2000 with a closing in 2001.
Based on regulatory decisions received in 1999, management
expects to recover all of its remaining nuclear stranded costs
from retail customers.
SEABROOK

Seabrook achieved an annual capacity factor of 86.4 percent
in 1999. However, since returning to service on May 13, 1999,
after a 48-day refueling and maintenance outage, Seabrook has
achieved a 99 percent capacity factor through December 31, 1999.
CL&P anticipates auctioning its 4.06 percent share of Seabrook,
with the 35.98 percent share owned by its affiliate North Atlantic
Energy Corporation (NAEC) after approval of the Settlement
Agreement. The Settlement Agreement with the state of New
Hampshire requires divestiture prior to December 31, 2003.

NUCLEAR DECOMMISSIONING

The staff of the SEC has questioned certain of the current
accounting practices of the electric utility industry regarding
the recognition, measurement and classification of decommissioning costs for nuclear units in their financial statements.
Currently, the Financial Accounting Standards Board plans
to review the accounting for obligations associated with the
retirement of long-lived assets, including the decommissioning
of nuclear units. If current accounting practices for nuclear decommissioning change, the annual provision for decommissioning
could increase relative to 1999, and the estimated cost for decommissioning could be recorded as a liability with recognition of
an increase in the cost of the related nuclear unit. However,
management does not believe that such a change will have a
material impact on the NU system’s financial statements due to
its current and future ability to recover decommissioning costs
through rates.

YANKEE COMPANIES
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On June 1, 1999, the FERC accepted the offer of settlement
which was filed on January 15, 1999, by the Maine Yankee
Atomic Power Company (MYAPC). The significant aspects of
the settlement allowed MYAPC to collect $33.1 million annually
to pay for decommissioning and spent fuel, approved its return
on equity of 6.5 percent, permitted full recovery of MYAPC’s
unamortized investment, including fuel, and set an incentive
budget for decommissioning at $436.3 million.
On October 15, 1999, the Vermont Yankee Nuclear Power
Corporation (VYNPC) agreed to sell its unit for $22 million to
an unaffiliated company. Among other commitments, the
acquiring company agreed to assume the decommissioning
cost of the unit after it is taken out of service, and the VYNPC
owners have agreed to fund the uncollected decommissioning
cost to a negotiated amount at the time of the closing of the
sale. VYNPC’s owners have also agreed either to enter into a
new purchased-power agreement with the acquiring company
or to buy out such future power payment obligations by making
a fixed payment to them. CL&P, WMECO and PSNH have
elected the buyout option. The VYNPC owners’ obligations to
close and pay such amounts are conditioned upon their receipt
of satisfactory regulatory approval of the transaction, including provision for adequate recovery of these payments.

SPENT NUCLEAR FUEL DISPOSAL COSTS

The United States Department of Energy (DOE) originally was
scheduled to begin accepting delivery of spent fuel in 1998.
However, delays in confirming the suitability of a permanent
storage site continually have postponed plans for the DOE’s
long-term storage and disposal site. Extended delays or a default
by the DOE could lead to consideration of costly alternatives.
NU has the primary responsibility for the interim storage of its
spent nuclear fuel. Adequate storage capacity exists to accommodate all spent nuclear fuel at Millstone 1. The facilities for
Millstone 2 are expected to provide adequate storage to
accommodate a full-core discharge from the reactor until 2005
with the implementation of currently planned modifications.
Fuel consolidation, which has been licensed for Millstone 2, could
provide adequate storage capacity for its projected life. The
facilities for Millstone 3 are expected to provide adequate storage
for its projected life with the addition of new storage racks.
Seabrook is expected to have spent fuel storage capacity until at
least 2010. Meeting spent fuel storage requirements beyond
these periods could require new and separate storage facilities.
For further information regarding spent nuclear fuel disposal
cost, see Note 7D, “Commitments and Contingencies – Spent
Nuclear Fuel Disposal Costs,” to the consolidated financial
statements.

MARKET RISK AND RISK MANAGEMENT INSTRUMENTS

The NU system uses swaps and collars to manage the market
risk exposures associated with changes in variable interest rates
and energy prices. The NU system uses these instruments to
reduce risk by essentially creating offsetting market exposures.
Based on the derivative instruments which are currently being
utilized by the NU system companies to hedge some of their
interest rate and energy price risks, there may be an impact
on earnings upon adoption of SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which management has not estimated at this time.
INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT INSTRUMENTS

Several NU subsidiaries hold variable-rate, long-term debt, exposing the NU system to interest rate risk. In order to hedge some
of this risk, interest rate risk management instruments have been
entered into on NAEC’s $200 million variable-rate note. A 10
percent increase in market interest rates above the 1999 weighted
average variable rate during 2000 would result in an immaterial
impact on interest expense.
ENERGY PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT INSTRUMENTS

In the generation of electricity, the most significant segment of
the variable cost component is the cost of fuel. Typically, most
of CL&P’s fuel purchases were protected by a regulatory fuel
price adjustment clause. However, for a specific, well-defined
volume of fuel that was excluded from the energy price adjustment clause, CL&P employed energy price risk management
instruments to protect itself against the risk of rising fuel
prices, thereby limiting fuel costs and protecting its profit margins.
These risks were created by the sale of long-term fixed-price
electricity sales contracts to wholesale customers.
In 1999, CL&P divested substantially all of its fossil and hydroelectric generation assets and also transferred the rights and
obligations of its long-term fixed-price contracts to an unregulated
affiliate. As a result, the fuel swap positions were marked-tomarket and CL&P recognized a loss of $5.2 million. In January
2000, the fuel swap positions were liquidated.
UNREGULATED ENERGY SERVICES MARKET RISK

NU’s unregulated companies, as major providers of electricity

and natural gas, have certain market risks inherent in their
business activities. Market risk represents the risk of loss that
may impact the companies’ financial position, results of operations or cash flows due to adverse changes in commodity
market prices. In 1999, the companies increased their volume of
electricity and gas marketing activities, increasing their risks.
Policies and procedures have been established to manage these
exposures including the use of risk management instruments.

OTHER MATTERS

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

NU is subject to environmental laws and regulations struc-

tured to mitigate or remove the effect of past operations and
to improve or maintain the quality of the environment. For
further information regarding environmental matters, see Note
7C, “Commitments and Contingencies — Environmental
Matters,” to the consolidated financial statements.
OTHER COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

NU is subject to other other commitments and contingencies
primarily relating to nuclear litigation, nuclear insurance contingencies, its construction program, long-term contractual
arrangements, and the New England Power Pool generation pricing.
For further information regarding these other commitments
and contingencies, see Note 7, “Commitments and Contingencies,”
to the consolidated financial statements.
YEAR 2000 ISSUES

The transition into the year 2000 was a success for the NU
system. Its mission to provide safe, reliable energy to its customers and to ensure continued operability of critical business
functions was not affected by any year 2000 related issues.
The projected total cost of the year 2000 program is estimated
at $21 million. The total cost to date was funded through
operating cash flows. The NU system has incurred and expensed
$20 million related to year 2000 readiness efforts.
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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis includes forward looking statements, which are statements of future expectations and not facts.
Words such as estimates, expects, anticipates, intends, plans,
and similar expressions identify forward looking statements.
Actual results or outcomes could differ materially as a result
of further actions by state and federal regulatory bodies, competition and industry restructuring, changes in economic
conditions, changes in historical weather patterns, changes in
laws, developments in legal or public policy doctrines,
technological developments, and other presently unknown or
unforeseen factors.

R E S U LT S O F O P E R AT I O N S

The components of significant income statement variances for the past two years are provided in the table below.

Income Statement Variances
(Millions of Dollars)

Operating Revenues
Operating Expenses:
Fuel, purchased and net interchange power
Other operation
Maintenance
Depreciation
Amortization of regulatory assets, net
Federal and state income taxes
Taxes other than income taxes
Gain on sale of utility plant
Total operating expenses
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1999 over/(under) 1998
Amount

$ 704

1998 over/(under) 1997

Percent

19%

428
52
(58)
(31)
393
93
9
(309)
584

29
7
(15)
(9)

Operating income

Amount

$ (67)

Percent

(2)%

(1)
(13)
(20)
(6)
64

4
—
16

(8)
(116)
(103)
(22)
79
4
(2)
—
(101)

120

53

34

18

Equity in earnings of regional nuclear
generating and transmission companies
Nuclear unrecoverable costs
Other income/(loss), net
Interest charges, net
Preferred dividends of subsidiaries

(7)
72
(19)
(5)
(4)

(59)
50
(2)
(14)

(1)
(143)
19
(3)
(4)

(9)
—
61
(1)
(13)

Net income/(loss)

181

(a)

(17)

(13)

(a)

(a)
(a)

(a)

(a)

(1)
—
(3)

Percentage greater than 100.

OPERATING REVENUES

Total revenues increased by $704 million or 19 percent in 1999
due to higher revenues from the competitive companies ($552
million), higher regulated wholesale revenue ($107 million)
and higher regulated retail revenue ($45 million). The competitive
companies’ increase is due to higher revenues from Select Energy
($526 million) and HEC Inc. (HEC) ($26 million). Select Energy’s
revenues were higher in 1999 as a result of new contracts for
energy sales. The regulated wholesale revenue increase is primarily due to higher energy sales and related capacity and
transmission revenues. The regulated retail increase is primarily
due to higher retail sales ($99 million) and the impact of
Millstone 2 and 3 being returned to CL&P’s rate base ($13 million).
These retail increases were partially offset by retail rate reductions
for CL&P and WMECO ($55 and $12 million, respectively).
Regulated retail kilowatt-hour sales increased by 3.8 percent.

Retail revenues decreased by $199 million in 1998 due to retail
rate reductions for CL&P, PSNH and WMECO and the accounting
impact of Millstone 2 and 3 being removed from CL&P’s rate
base. Wholesale revenues decreased by $32 million primarily
as a result of the terminated contract with the Connecticut Municipal
Electric Energy Cooperative (CMEEC). Other revenues decreased
$50 million due to lower billings to outside companies for reimbursable costs and price differences among customer classes.
These decreases were partially offset by higher fuel recoveries
and higher retail sales volumes. Fuel recoveries increased by
$166 million primarily due to higher fuel revenues from PSNH
as a result of a higher fuel and purchased-power adjustment
clause rate. Retail kilowatt-hour sales were 1.9 percent higher
and contributed $48 million to nonfuel revenues in 1998 primarily as a result of economic growth in all three states.

FUEL, PURCHASED AND NET
INTERCHANGE POWER

Fuel, purchased and net interchange power expense increased
in 1999, primarily due to higher purchased energy and capacity
costs as a result of higher sales for Select Energy ($521 million),
regulated wholesale ($86 million) and regulated retail ($36 million),
partially offset by lower replacement power costs due to the return
to service of Millstone 2 and 3 ($215 million).
The change in fuel, purchased and net interchange power
expense in 1998 was not significant.
OTHER OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE

Other O&M expenses decreased in 1999, primarily due to
lower costs at the Millstone units ($125 million), partially
offset by the recognition of environmental insurance proceeds
in 1998 and additional environmental reserves in 1999 ($30
million), higher transmission and power exchange expenses ($35
million), higher spending at Seabrook ($10 million) as a result
of the refueling outage, higher expenditures for HEC and the
competitive businesses ($32 million), and expenses associated
with the Con Edison merger ($12 million) in 1999.
Other O&M expenses decreased in 1998, primarily due to
lower costs at the Millstone units ($159 million), lower costs
at the Seabrook and Yankee companies’ nuclear units ($50 million), the recognition of environmental insurance proceeds ($27
million), and lower administrative and general expenses ($26
million). These decreases were offset partially by higher recognition
of nuclear refueling outage costs primarily as a result of the
1996 CL&P rate settlement ($29 million).

FEDERAL AND STATE INCOME TAXES

The consolidated statement of income taxes provides a reconciliation of actual and expected tax expense. The tax effect of
temporary differences is accounted for in accordance with the
rate-making treatment of the applicable regulatory commissions.
In past years, this rate-making treatment has required the
company to provide the customers with a portion of the tax benefits associated with accelerated tax depreciation in the year it
is generated (flow-through depreciation). As these flow-through
differences turn around, higher tax expense is recorded.
Federal and state income taxes increased approximately $93
million in 1999, primarily due to the significant increase in
pretax earnings. Significant variances of other items include a
$10 million increase in flow-through depreciation turnaround
and $4.6 million of nontax deductible merger related expenditures offset by the elimination of a $23 million deferred tax
asset valuation reserve.
Federal and state income taxes increased in 1998, primarily
due to higher book taxable income, partially offset by an
increase in income tax credits primarily due to the Millstone 1
write-off of unrecoverable costs as a result of the February
1999 CL&P rate decision.
GAIN ON SALE OF UTILITY PLANT

CL&P and WMECO recorded gains on the sale of their fossil

and hydroelectric generation assets in 1999. A corresponding
amount of amortization expense was recorded.
EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF REGIONAL NUCLEAR
GENERATING AND TRANSMISSION COMPANIES

Depreciation decreased in 1999 and 1998, primarily due to the
retirement of Millstone 1.

Equity in earnings of regional nuclear generating and transmission
companies decreased in 1999 and 1998, primarily due to lower
earnings from the Connecticut Yankee Atomic Power Company.

AMORTIZATION OF REGULATORY ASSETS, NET

NUCLEAR UNRECOVERABLE COSTS

Amortization of regulatory assets, net increased in 1999, primarily due to the increased amortization associated with the
gain on the sale of CL&P’s and WMECO’s fossil and hydroelectric generation assets ($309 million), the amortization of
CL&P’s and WMECO’s Millstone 1 remaining investment ($56
million) and the reclassification of the depreciation on the
nuclear plants to regulatory assets ($23 million).
Amortization of regulatory assets, net increased in 1998,
primarily due to accelerated amortizations in accordance with
regulatory decisions for CL&P ($49 million), the amortization
of NAEC’s Seabrook deferred return ($79 million) and the beginning of the amortization of CL&P’s Millstone 1 investment
($23 million). These increases were partially offset by the lower
amortization of the PSNH acquisition premium ($40 million).

Nuclear unrecoverable costs in 1999 are comprised of one-time
charges related to the CL&P write-off of CMEEC nuclear
costs ($19.9 million), the CL&P write-off of capital projects as
a result of the Connecticut standard offer decision ($11
million), the CL&P/WMECO settlement of Millstone 3 joint
owner litigation, net of insurance proceeds ($27 million), the
WMECO return disallowed on Millstone 1 unrecovered plant
from March 1998 forward ($10.8 million), and the WMECO
disallowed Millstone 1 plant per the Massachusetts restructuring
order ($2.1 million). In comparison, 1998 is comprised of the
write-off of the Millstone 1 entitlement formerly held by CMEEC
($27.8 million) and the write-off of unrecoverable costs as a
result of the February 1999 CL&P rate decision ($115.3 million).

DEPRECIATION

OTHER INCOME/(LOSS), NET

Other income/(loss), net decreased in 1999, primarily due to the
PSNH settlement with the New Hampshire Electric Cooperative
($6.2 million) and the loss on the CL&P assignment of marketbased contracts to Select Energy ($15 million).
The 1998 increase over 1997 is primarily due to the proceeds
resulting from the shareholder derivative suit.
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COMPANY REPORT

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC
ACCOUNTANTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Northeast
Utilities and subsidiaries and other sections of this annual report
were prepared by the company. These financial statements, which
were audited by Arthur Andersen LLP, were prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles using estimates
and judgment, where required, and giving consideration to
materiality.
The company has endeavored to establish a control environment that encourages the maintenance of high standards of
conduct in all of its business activities. The company maintains
a system of internal controls over financial reporting which is
designed to provide reasonable assurance to the company’s management and Board of Trustees regarding the preparation of
reliable, published financial statements. The system is supported
by an organization of trained management personnel, policies
and procedures, and a comprehensive program of internal audits.
Through established programs, the company regularly communicates to its management employees their internal control
responsibilities and policies prohibiting conflicts of interest.
The Audit Committee of the Board of Trustees is composed
entirely of outside trustees. The Audit Committee meets periodically with management, the internal auditors and the independent
auditors to review the activities of each and to discuss audit
matters, financial reporting and the adequacy of internal controls.
Because of inherent limitations in any system of internal
controls, errors or irregularities may occur and not be detected.
The company believes, however, that its system of internal
accounting controls and control environment provide reasonable
assurance that its assets are safeguarded from loss or unauthorized use and that its financial records, which are the basis for
the preparation of all financial statements, are reliable.

To the Board of Trustees and
Shareholders of Northeast Utilities:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets
and consolidated statements of capitalization of Northeast
Utilities (a Massachusetts trust) and subsidiaries as of December
31, 1999 and 1998, and the related consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, shareholders’ equity, cash flows
and income taxes for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 1999. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted
auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating
the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Northeast Utilities and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1999
and 1998, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December
31, 1999, in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles.
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP
Hartford, Connecticut
January 25, 2000

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

For the Years Ended December 31,
(Thousands of Dollars, except share information)

1999

1998

1997

$4,471,251

$3,767,714

$ 3,834,806

1,898,314
855,917
340,419
302,305
596,437
180,883
261,353
(308,914)

1,470,200
803,419
399,165
332,807
203,132
82,332
251,932
—

1,478,566
919,431
501,693
354,329
123,718
12,650
253,637
—

4,126,714

3,542,987

3,644,024

Operating Income

344,537

224,727

190,782

Other Income/(Loss):
Equity in earnings of regional nuclear generating
and transmission companies
Nuclear unrecoverable costs
Other, net
Minority interest in loss of subsidiary
Income taxes

5,034
(71,066)
(30,855)
(9,300)
82,272

12,420
(143,239)
(12,225)
(9,300)
76,393

11,306
—
(31,185)
(9,300)
10,702

Other loss, net

(23,915)

(75,951)

(18,477)

Income before interest charges

320,622

148,776

172,305

258,093
13,959
(8,401)

273,824
7,808
(12,543)

282,095
3,561
(13,675)

263,651

269,089

271,981

56,971
22,755

(120,313)
26,440

(99,676)
30,286

$ (146,753)

$ (129,962)

$

$

Operating Revenues
Operating Expenses:
Operation —
Fuel, purchased and net interchange power
Other
Maintenance
Depreciation
Amortization of regulatory assets, net
Federal and state income taxes
Taxes other than income taxes
Gain on sale of utility plant
Total operating expenses

Interest Charges:
Interest on long-term debt
Other interest
Deferred interest — nuclear plants
Interest charges, net
Income/(loss) after interest charges
Preferred Dividends of Subsidiaries
Net Income/(Loss)

$

34,216

Earnings/(Loss) Per Common Share — Basic and Diluted

$

0.26

Common Shares Outstanding (average)

131,415,126

(1.12)

130,549,760

(1.01)

129,567,708

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the Years Ended December 31,
(Thousands of Dollars)

Net Income/(Loss)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Unrealized gains on securities
Minimum pension liability adjustments
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax
Comprehensive Income/(Loss)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

1999

1998

1997

$34,216

$(146,753)

$(129,962)

1
118
—

—
2,019
(613)

(499)
—
—

119

1,406

(499)

$34,335

$(145,347)

$(130,461)
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31,
(Thousands of Dollars)

Assets
Utility Plant, at cost:
Electric
Other
Less: Accumulated provision for depreciation
Unamortized PSNH acquisition costs
Construction work in progress
Nuclear fuel, net
Total net utility plant
Other Property and Investments:
Nuclear decommissioning trusts, at market
Investments in regional nuclear generating companies, at equity
Other, at cost
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Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments in securitizable assets
Receivables, less accumulated provision for uncollectible accounts
of $4,895 in 1999 and $2,416 in 1998
Unbilled revenues
Fuel, materials and supplies, at average cost
Recoverable energy costs, net — current portion
Prepayments and other
Deferred Charges:
Regulatory assets
Unamortized debt expense
Other

Total Assets
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

1999

1998

$9,185,272
226,002

$ 9,570,547
195,325

9,411,274
6,088,310

9,765,872
4,224,416

3,322,964
324,437
177,504
122,529

5,541,456
352,855
143,159
133,411

3,947,434

6,170,881

711,910
81,503
94,768

619,143
85,791
151,857

888,181

856,791

255,154
107,620

136,155
182,118

310,190
75,728
172,973
73,721
75,894

237,207
42,145
202,661
67,181
68,087

1,071,280

935,554

3,642,439
39,192
99,526

2,328,949
40,416
54,790

3,781,157

2,424,155

$9,688,052

$10,387,381

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31,
(Thousands of Dollars)

Capitalization and Liabilities
Capitalization:
Common shares, $5 par value — authorized 225,000,000 shares; 137,393,829 shares
issued and 131,870,284 shares outstanding in 1999 and 137,031,264 shares
issued and 130,954,740 shares outstanding in 1998
Capital surplus, paid in
Deferred contribution plan — employee stock ownership plan
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total common shareholders’ equity
Preferred stock not subject to mandatory redemption
Preferred stock subject to mandatory redemption
Long-term debt
Total capitalization
Minority Interest in Consolidated Subsidiaries
Obligations Under Capital Leases
Current Liabilities:
Notes payable to banks
Long-term debt and preferred stock — current portion
Obligations under capital leases — current portion
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes
Accrued interest
Other
Deferred Credits and Other Long-term Liabilities:
Accumulated deferred income taxes
Accumulated deferred investment tax credits
Decommissioning obligation — Millstone 1
Deferred contractual obligations
Other
Total Capitalization and Liabilities
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

1999

$ 686,969
940,726
(127,725)
581,817
1,524

1998

$

685,156
940,661
(140,619)
560,769
1,405

2,083,311
136,200
121,289
2,372,341

2,047,372
136,200
167,539
3,282,138

4,713,141

5,633,249

100,000

100,000

62,824

88,423

278,000
503,315
118,469
347,321
158,684
37,904
126,768

30,000
397,153
120,856
338,612
50,755
51,044
139,367

1,570,461

1,127,787

1,688,114
140,407
702,351
358,387
352,367

1,848,694
143,369
692,000
418,760
335,099

3,241,626

3,437,922

$9,688,052

$ 10,387,381
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C O N S O L I D A T E D

S T A T E M E N T S

Common
Shares

$ 680,260

$ 939,589

Net loss for 1997
Cash dividends on common shares —
$0.25 per share
Issuance of 790,232 common shares,
$5 par value
Allocation of benefits — ESOP
Capital stock expenses, net
Other comprehensive loss

3,951

684,211

Net loss for 1998
Issuance of 189,094 common shares,
$5 par value
Allocation of benefits — ESOP
Unearned stock compensation
Capital stock expenses, net
Gain on equity investment
Gain on repurchase of preferred stock
Other comprehensive income
Balance as of December 31, 1998
Net income for 1999
Cash dividends on common shares —
$0.10 per share
Issuance of 362,565 common shares,
$5 par value
Allocation of benefits — ESOP
Unearned stock compensation
Capital stock expenses, net
Other comprehensive income
Balance as of December 31, 1999
(a)

2,551
(12,238)
2,592

Deferred
Contribution
Plan — ESOP

$ (176,091)

E Q U I T Y

Retained
Earnings
(a)

$869,618

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

$

498

932,494

(32,134)

(32,134)

707,522

(1)

(146,753)
945

1,714
(4,769)
(537)
3,560
8,140
59
940,661

13,522

1,813

3,505
(3,053)
(1,194)
807

(140,619)

560,769

$ 940,726

1,405

2,047,372

(13,168)

(13,168)

$ 581,817

Certain consolidated subsidiaries have dividend restrictions imposed by their long-term debt agreements. These restrictions
also limit the amount of retained earnings available for NU common dividends. At December 31, 1999, retained earnings
available for the payment of dividends totaled $158.5 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2,659
8,753
(537)
3,560
8,140
59
1,406
34,216

12,894

$(127,725)

2,170,085

34,216

119
$ 686,969

6,502
9,712
2,592
(499)
(146,753)

1,406
685,156

$2,313,874
(129,962)

21,950

(154,141)

Total

(129,962)

(499)

Balance as of December 31, 1997
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S H A R E H O L D E R S ’

Capital
Surplus,
Paid In

(Thousands of Dollars)

Balance as of January 1, 1997

O F

$ 1,524

5,318
9,841
(1,194)
807
119
$2,083,311

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the Years Ended December 31,
(Thousands of Dollars)

Operating Activities:
Income/(loss) after interest charges
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Deferred income taxes and investment tax credits, net
Amortization of regulatory assets, net
Amortization of demand-side-management costs, net
Amortization/(deferral) of recoverable energy costs
Nuclear unrecoverable costs
Gain on sale of utility plant
Net other (uses)/sources of cash
Changes in working capital:
Receivables and unbilled revenues, net
Fuel, materials and supplies
Accounts payable
Accrued taxes
Investments in securitizable assets
Other working capital (excludes cash)

1999

$ 56,971

1998

$(120,313)

1997

$ (99,676)

302,305
(183,356)
596,437
10,014
44,526
71,066
(308,914)
(55,543)

332,807
23,502
203,132
42,085
38,356
143,239
—
55,399

354,329
26,435
123,718
38,029
(54,102)
—
—
(66,518)

(106,566)
29,688
8,709
107,929
74,498
(33,546)

(27,553)
10,060
(64,258)
4,739
48,787
(26,714)

352,384
(1,307)
(104,269)
38,966
(230,905)
(36,464)

614,218

663,268

340,620

Financing Activities:
Issuance of common shares
Issuance of long-term debt
Net increase/(decrease) in short-term debt
Reacquisitions and retirements of long-term debt
Reacquisitions and retirements of preferred stock
Cash dividends on preferred stock
Cash dividends on common shares

5,318
200
248,000
(817,759)
(46,250)
(22,755)
(13,168)

2,659
275
(20,000)
(269,555)
(62,211)
(26,440)
—

6,502
260,000
11,250
(288,793)
(25,000)
(30,286)
(32,134)

Net cash flows used in financing activities

(646,414)

(375,272)

(98,461)

Investing Activities:
Investment in plant:
Electric and other utility plant
Nuclear fuel

(287,081)
(42,471)

(217,009)
(17,026)

(233,399)
(6,852)

Net cash flows used for investments in plant
Investment in nuclear decommissioning trusts
Investment in nonregulated assets
Net proceeds from the sale of utility plant
Other investment activities, net

(329,552)
(74,231)
(23,542)
565,436
13,084

(234,035)
(75,551)
—
—
14,342

(240,251)
(61,046)
—
—
8,344

Net cash flows provided by/(used in) investing activities

151,195

(295,244)

(292,953)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash for the period
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period

118,999
136,155

(7,248)
143,403

(50,794)
194,197

Net cash flows provided by operating activities

Cash and cash equivalents — end of period

$ 255,154

$ 136,155

$ 143,403

Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid/(refunded) during the year for:
Interest, net of amounts capitalized

$ 266,823

$ 238,990

$ 291,335

Income taxes

$ 86,183

$ 19,454

$ (26,387)

Increase in obligations:
Niantic Bay Fuel Trust and other capital leases

$

$ 12,583

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

5,865

3,475
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C O N S O L I D A T E D

S T A T E M E N T S

O F

C A P I T A L I Z A T I O N

At December 31,
(Thousands of Dollars)

1999

1998

$ 2,083,311

$ 2,047,372

116,200
20,000

116,200
20,000

136,200

136,200

68,000
99,539

94,500
119,289

Total Preferred Stock Subject to Mandatory Redemption
Less: Preferred Stock to be redeemed within one year

167,539
46,250

213,789
46,250

Preferred Stock Subject to Mandatory Redemption, net

121,289

167,539

—
159,000
220,000
489,150
—
20,000
305,000

254,000
260,000
220,000
560,000
140,000
120,000
430,000

1,193,150

1,984,000

206,011
158,000
33,400
15,300
552,485
369,300
62,000

212,022
177,000
33,400
15,300
552,485
369,300
62,000

Total Pollution Control Notes and Other Notes
Fees and interest due for spent nuclear fuel disposal costs
Other

1,396,496
226,463
15,346

1,421,507
216,377
17,043

Total Other Long-Term Debt

1,638,305

1,654,927

Common Shareholders’ Equity
Cumulative Preferred Stock of Subsidiaries:
$25 par value — authorized 36,600,000 shares at December 31, 1999 and 1998;
2,720,000 shares outstanding in 1999 and 3,780,000 shares outstanding in 1998
$50 par value — authorized 9,000,000 shares at December 31, 1999 and 1998;
4,314,774 shares outstanding in 1999 and 4,709,774 shares outstanding in 1998
$100 par value — authorized 1,000,000 shares at December 31, 1999 and 1998;
200,000 shares outstanding in 1999 and 1998
Current Redemption Prices (a)

Dividend Rates

Not Subject to Mandatory Redemption:
$50 par value — $1.90 to $3.28
$50.50 to $54.00
$100 par value — $7.72
$103.51

Current Shares Outstanding

2,324,000
200,000

Total Preferred Stock Not Subject to Mandatory Redemption
Subject to Mandatory Redemption:(b)
$25 par value — $1.90 to $2.65
$25.00 to $25.38
$50 par value — $2.65 to $3.615
$50.67 to $51.93
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2,720,000
1,990,774

Long-Term Debt:(c)
First Mortgage Bonds —
Maturity
Interest Rates
1999
2000
2001
2002
2004
2019-2023
2024-2025

5.50% to 7.25%
5.75% to 6.875%
7.375% to 7.875%
7.75% to 9.05%
6.125%
7.375% to 7.50%
7.375% to 8.50%

Total First Mortgage Bonds
Other Long-Term Debt —
Pollution Control Notes and Other Notes — (d)
2000
Adjustable Rate(e) and 7.67%
2005-2006
8.38% to 8.58%
2013-2018
Adjustable Rate and 5.90%
2020
Adjustable Rate
2021-2022
5.85% to 7.65% and Adjustable Rate
2028
5.85% to 5.95%
2031
Adjustable Rate

Unamortized premium and discount, net

(2,049)

(5,886)

Total Long-Term Debt
Less: Amounts due within one year

2,829,406
457,065

3,633,041
350,903

Long-Term Debt, net

2,372,341

3,282,138

$ 4,713,141

$5,633,249

Total Capitalization
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

N O T E S

T O

C O N S O L I D A T E D

S T A T E M E N T S

(a) Each of these series is subject to certain refunding limitations
for the first five years after issuance. Redemption prices reduce
in future years.
(b) Changes in Preferred Stock Subject to Mandatory Redemption:
(Millions of Dollars)

Balance at December 31, 1997
Reacquisitions and Retirements

$ 276.0
(62.2)

Balance at December 31, 1998
Reacquisitions and Retirements

213.8
(46.3)

Balance at December 31, 1999

$ 167.5

The minimum sinking fund requirements of the series subject
each year to mandatory redemption aggregate $46.3 million
each year in 2000 and 2001, $21.3 million in 2002, $7.7 million
in 2003 and $5.3 million in 2004. In case of default on sinking
fund payments, no payments may be made on any junior stock
by way of dividends or otherwise (other than in shares of junior
stock) so long as the default continues. If a subsidiary is in arrears
in the payment of dividends on any outstanding shares of preferred stock, the subsidiary is prohibited from redeeming or
purchasing less than all of the outstanding preferred stock.
(c) Long-term debt maturities and cash sinking fund requirements, excluding fees and interest due for spent nuclear fuel
disposal costs, on debt outstanding at December 31, 1999, for
the years 2000 through 2004 are $457.1 million, $314 million, $374.6 million, $25.6 million, and $25.5 million, respectively.
Essentially all utility plant of CL&P, PSNH, WMECO, and
NAEC, is subject to the liens of each company’s respective first
mortgage bond indenture. NAEC’s first mortgage bonds are
also secured by payments made to NAEC by PSNH under the
terms of two life-of-unit, full cost recovery contracts.

O F

C A P I T A L I Z A T I O N

CL&P and WMECO have secured $369.3 million of pollution control notes with second mortgage liens on Millstone 1,
junior to the liens of their respective first mortgage bond indentures.
CL&P has $62 million of tax-exempt Pollution Control
Revenue Bonds (PCRBs) with bond insurance secured by the first
mortgage bonds and a liquidity facility.
Concurrent with the issuance of PSNH’s Series A and B first
mortgage bonds, PSNH entered into financing arrangements
with the Business Finance Authority (BFA) of the state of New
Hampshire. Pursuant to these arrangements, the BFA issued
seven series of PCRBs and loaned the proceeds to PSNH. At
December 31, 1999 and 1998, $516.5 million of the PCRBs
were outstanding. PSNH’s obligation to repay each series of
PCRBs is secured by the first mortgage bonds. Each such series
of first mortgage bonds contains similar terms and provisions
as the applicable series of PCRBs. For financial reporting purposes, these bonds would not be considered outstanding unless
PSNH failed to meet its obligations under the PCRBs.

(d) The average effective interest rates on the variable-rate pollution
control notes ranged from 2.2 percent to 6.1 percent for 1999
and 3.1 percent to 5.6 percent for 1998.
During 1998, $535 million of adjustable-rate debt was converted to fixed-rate debt at rates ranging from 5.85 percent to
6.0 percent.
(e) Interest rate swaps effectively fix the interest rate of NAEC’s
$200 million variable-rate bank note at interest rates ranging
from 5.81 percent to 6.07 percent.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME TAXES

For the Years Ended December 31,
(Thousands of Dollars)

The components of the federal and state income
tax provisions charged to operations are:
Current income taxes:
Federal
State

1998

1997

$ 248,012
33,955

$(13,660)
(3,903)

$(22,760)
(1,727)

281,967

(17,563)

(24,487)

Deferred income taxes, net:
Federal
State

(134,773)
(28,789)

51,913
(12,948)

46,871
(10,841)

Total deferred

(163,562)

38,965

36,030

Total current

Investment tax credits, net
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1999

(19,794)

(15,463)

(9,595)

Total income tax expense

$ 98,611

$ 5,939

$ 1,948

The components of total income tax expense are classified as follows:
Income taxes charged to operating expenses
Other income taxes

$ 180,883
(82,272)

$ 82,332
(76,393)

$ 12,650
(10,702)

Total income tax expense

$ 98,611

$ 5,939

$ 1,948

Deferred income taxes are comprised of the tax effects
of temporary differences as follows:
Deferred tax asset associated with net operating losses
Depreciation, leased nuclear fuel, settlement credits and disposal costs
Regulatory deferral
State net operating loss carryforward
Regulatory disallowance
Sale of fossil and hydroelectric generation assets
Other

$ 14,801
(4,580)
(23,463)
7,777
(30,719)
(125,807)
(1,571)

$ 69,212
16,217
(26,786)
1,150
(18,080)
—
(2,748)

$

Deferred income taxes, net

$(163,562)

$ 38,965

$ 36,030

$ 54,454

$(40,031)

$(34,205)

25,793
30,740
17,301
(15,463)
(10,953)
3,589
(7,338)
(1,670)
(3,218)
7,000
—
189

21,776
5,498
31,298
(9,595)
(8,169)
648
(2,592)
(4,648)
(1,563)
8,750
—
(5,250)

A reconciliation between income tax expense and the
expected tax expense at 35 percent of pretax income:
Expected federal income tax
Tax effect of differences:
Depreciation
Amortization of regulatory assets
Amortization of PSNH acquisition costs
Investment tax credit amortization
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Nondeductible penalties
Adjustment for prior years’ taxes
Employee stock ownership plan
Dividends received deduction
Adjustment to tax asset valuation allowance
Merger related expenditures
Other, net
Total income tax expense
The accompanying notes are in integral part of these financial statements.

35,672
34,736
9,946
(19,794)
3,358
17
(2,796)
1,166
(1,314)
(23,129)
4,597
1,698
$ 98,611

$ 5,939

—
32,932
19,237
(7,670)
—
—
(8,469)

$ 1,948

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. ABOUT NORTHEAST UTILITIES

Northeast Utilities (NU or the company) is the parent company
of the Northeast Utilities system (NU system). Through its regulated utilities and unregulated energy service companies, the
NU system serves in excess of 30 percent of New England’s electric needs and is one of the 20 largest electric utility systems in
the country as measured by revenues. The NU system’s regulated
utilities furnish franchised retail electric service in Connecticut,
New Hampshire and western Massachusetts through three wholly
owned subsidiaries: The Connecticut Light and Power Company
(CL&P), Public Service Company of New Hampshire (PSNH)
and Western Massachusetts Electric Company (WMECO). Another
wholly owned subsidiary, North Atlantic Energy Corporation
(NAEC), sells all of its entitlement to the capacity and output
of the Seabrook Station (Seabrook) nuclear unit to PSNH under
the terms of two life-of-unit, full cost recovery contracts (Seabrook
Power Contracts). A fifth wholly owned subsidiary, Holyoke
Water Power Company (HWP), also is engaged in the
production and distribution of electric power.
NU is registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) as a holding company under the Public Utility Holding
Company Act of 1935 (1935 Act), and the NU system is subject
to the provisions of the 1935 Act. Arrangements among the NU
system companies, outside agencies and other utilities covering
interconnections, interchange of electric power and sales of
utility property are subject to regulation by the Federal Energy
Regulatory Commission (FERC) and/or the SEC. The operating
subsidiaries are subject to further regulation for rates, accounting
and other matters by the FERC and/or applicable state regulatory commissions.
NU Enterprises, Inc. (NUEI) is a wholly owned subsidiary of
NU and acts as the holding company for NU’s unregulated
energy service companies. Northeast Generation Company (NGC)
was formed to acquire generating facilities. Northeast Generation
Services Company (NGS) was formed to provide services to
the electric generation market as well as to large commercial
and industrial customers in the Northeast. Select Energy, Inc.
(Select Energy), HEC Inc. (HEC) and Mode 1 Communications,
Inc. (Mode 1) engage in a variety of energy-related and telecommunications activities, as applicable, primarily in the unregulated
energy retail and wholesale commodity, marketing and services
fields. During 1999 and 1998, NUEI accounted for 13.6 percent and 1.4 percent of consolidated revenues, respectively.

Several wholly owned subsidiaries of NU provide support
services for the NU system companies and, in some cases, for
other New England utilities. Northeast Utilities Service Company
provides centralized accounting, administrative, information
resources, engineering, financial, legal, operational, planning,
purchasing, and other services to the NU system companies.
Northeast Nuclear Energy Company acts as agent for the NU
system companies and other New England utilities in operating
the Millstone nuclear units. North Atlantic Energy Service
Corporation has operational responsibility for Seabrook. Three
other subsidiaries construct, acquire or lease some of the
property and facilities used by the NU system companies.
On October 13, 1999, NU and Consolidated Edison, Inc.
(Con Edison) announced that they have agreed to a merger to
combine the two companies. For further information, see
Note 15, “ Merger Agreement with Con Edison.”
On October 12, 1999, Yankee Energy System, Inc. shareholders approved the proposed merger with NU. On December
20, 1999, the Connecticut Department of Public Utility Control
(DPUC) issued its final decision approving the merger. In January
2000, the SEC granted final approval of the merger. The transaction is expected to close in early March 2000.
B. PRESENTATION

The consolidated financial statements of the NU system include
the accounts of all subsidiaries. Intercompany transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.
Certain reclassifications of prior years’ data have been made
to conform with the current year’s presentation.
C. NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) has issued
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 133,
“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities.”
SFAS No. 133 establishes accounting and reporting standards
for derivative instruments and hedging activities. This statement will require derivative instruments utilized by the NU
system companies to be recognized on the balance sheets as
assets or liabilities at fair value.
In June 1999, the FASB delayed the adoption date of SFAS
No. 133 until January 1, 2001.
Based on the derivative instruments which currently are being
utilized by the NU system companies to hedge some of their
interest rate risk and certain power contracts, there may be an
impact on earnings upon adoption of SFAS No. 133 which
management has not estimated at this time.
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D. I N V E S T M E N T S A N D J O I N T LY O W N E D
ELECTRIC UTILITY PLANT
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Regional Nuclear Generating Companies: CL&P, PSNH and
WMECO own common stock in four regional nuclear companies (Yankee Companies). The NU system’s ownership interests
in the Yankee Companies at December 31, 1999 and 1998,
which are accounted for on the equity basis due to the NU system
companies’ ability to exercise significant influence over their
operating and financial policies are 49 percent of the Connecticut
Yankee Atomic Power Company (CYAPC), 38.5 percent of the
Yankee Atomic Electric Company (YAEC), 20 percent of the
Maine Yankee Atomic Power Company (MYAPC), and 16
percent of the Vermont Yankee Nuclear Power Corporation
(VYNPC). The NU system’s total equity investment in the
Yankee Companies at December 31, 1999 and 1998, is $81.5
million and $85.8 million, respectively. Each Yankee Company
owns a single nuclear generating unit. However, VYNPC is the
only unit still in operation at December 31, 1999.
Millstone: CL&P and WMECO together own 100 percent of
both Millstone 1, a 660 megawatt (MW) nuclear unit and
Millstone 2, an 870 MW nuclear generating unit. CL&P, PSNH
and WMECO together have a 68.02 percent joint ownership
interest in Millstone 3, a 1,154 MW nuclear generating unit.
The company expects to auction all three units as a single package in 2000, with a closing in 2001. Appropriate regulatory
approvals will be required to complete the auction.
Seabrook: CL&P and NAEC together have a 40.04 percent
joint ownership interest in Seabrook, a 1,148 MW nuclear
generating unit. NAEC sells all of its share of the power generated
by Seabrook to PSNH under the Seabrook Power Contracts.
CL&P and NAEC expect to auction their investment in Seabrook
upon the resolution of the restructuring issues in the state of
New Hampshire.
Plant-in-service and the accumulated provision for depreciation for the NU system’s share of Millstone 2 and 3 and
Seabrook are as follows:

agency where applicable. Except for major facilities, depreciation
rates are applied to the average plant-in-service during the period.
Major facilities are depreciated from the time they are placed in
service. When plant is retired from service, the original cost of
the plant, including costs of removal less salvage, is charged to
the accumulated provision for depreciation. The costs of closure
and removal of nonnuclear facilities are accrued over the life of
the plant as a component of depreciation. The depreciation
rates for the several classes of electric plant-in-service are equivalent
to a composite rate of 3.3 percent in 1999 and 1998 and 3.8
percent in 1997.
At December 31, 1999 and 1998, the accumulated provision
for depreciation included $91.5 million and $88.4 million,
respectively, accrued for the cost of removal, net of salvage, for
nonnuclear generation property.
As a result of discontinuing the application of SFAS No. 71,
“Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation,”
for CL&P’s and WMECO’s generation businesses, including
CL&P’s ownership interest in Seabrook, the company recorded
a charge to accumulated depreciation for the nuclear plant in
excess of fair market value in the amount of $2 billion and a
corresponding regulatory asset was created.
F. R E V E N U E S

Regulated utility revenues are based on authorized rates applied
to each customer’s use of electricity. In general, rates can be changed
only through a formal proceeding before the appropriate regulatory commission. Regulatory commissions also have authority
over the terms and conditions of nontraditional rate-making
arrangements. At the end of each accounting period, CL&P, PSNH
and WMECO accrue a revenue estimate for the amount of energy
delivered but unbilled.
Revenues for NU’s unregulated subsidiaries, primarily Select
Energy, are recognized when the energy is delivered.
G. PSNH ACQUISITION COSTS

PSNH acquisition costs represent the aggregate value placed
At December 31,
(Millions of Dollars)

Plant-in-service
Millstone 2
Millstone 3
Seabrook
Accumulated provision for depreciation
Millstone 2
Millstone 3
Seabrook

1999

1998

$ 952.1
2,414.9
901.9

$ 936.8
2,407.4
895.5

$ 910.0
2,220.5
318.8

$ 379.6
765.9
170.0

Hydro-Quebec: NU has a 22.66 percent equity ownership
interest, totaling $16.5 million, in two companies that transmit
electricity imported from the Hydro-Quebec system in Canada.
E. DEPRECIATION

The provision for depreciation is calculated using the straightline method based on the estimated remaining useful lives of
depreciable utility plant-in-service, adjusted for salvage value
and removal costs, as approved by the appropriate regulatory

by the 1989 rate agreement with the state of New Hampshire
(Rate Agreement) on PSNH’s assets in excess of the net book
value of PSNH’s non-Seabrook assets, plus the $700 million
value assigned to Seabrook by the Rate Agreement as part of
the bankruptcy resolution on June 5, 1992. The Rate Agreement
provides for the recovery through rates, with a return, of the
PSNH acquisition costs. The unrecovered balance was $324.4
million and $352.9 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998,
respectively, and is being recovered ratably over a 20-year period
ending May 1, 2011, in accordance with the Rate Agreement.
Through December 31, 1999 and 1998, $668 million and $640
million, respectively, has been collected.
H. REGULATORY ACCOUNTING AND ASSETS

The accounting policies of the NU system operating companies
and the accompanying consolidated financial statements conform to generally accepted accounting principles applicable to
rate-regulated enterprises and historically reflect the effects of
the rate-making process in accordance with SFAS No. 71. As a
result of final restructuring orders issued in 1999, CL&P and
WMECO discontinued the application of SFAS No. 71 for the
generation portion of their businesses.

Based on a current evaluation of the various factors and
conditions that are expected to impact future cost recovery, management continues to believe it is probable that the NU system
operating companies will recover their investments in long-lived
assets, including regulatory assets. In addition, all material
regulatory assets are earning a return. The components of the
NU system companies’ regulatory assets are as follows:
At December 31,
(Millions of Dollars)

Recoverable nuclear costs
Income taxes, net
Unrecovered contractual obligations
Recoverable energy costs, net
Deferred costs — nuclear plants
Other

1999

1998

$2,210.8
636.6
349.2
228.2
111.6
106.0

$ 576.3
762.5
408.0
279.2
187.1
115.8

$3,642.4

$ 2,328.9

The restructuring orders in Connecticut and Massachusetts
provide for the transmission and distribution business to continue to be cost-of-service based and also provide for a transition
charge which recovers stranded costs, including the nuclear
regulatory assets established below.
As a result of discontinuing the application of SFAS No. 71
for CL&P’s and WMECO’s generation businesses, the company
reclassified nuclear plant in excess of its estimated fair market
value from plant to regulatory assets. As of December 31, 1999,
both the CL&P unamortized balance ($1.38 billion) and the
WMECO unamortized balance ($316.1 million) are classified
as recoverable nuclear costs. Also included in that regulatory
asset component for 1999 is $514.7 million, which includes
Millstone 1 recoverable nuclear costs relating to the recoverable
portion of the undepreciated plant and related assets ($145.7
million) and the decommissioning and closure obligation
($369 million).
At this time, management continues to believe that the application of SFAS No. 71 for PSNH and NAEC remains appropriate.
If the “Agreement to Settle PSNH Restructuring” (Settlement
Agreement), as filed, is approved by the New Hampshire Public
Utilities Commission (NHPUC) and implemented, then PSNH
will discontinue the application of SFAS No. 71 for the generation
portion of its business and record an after-tax write-off of $225
million. PSNH’s transmission and distribution business will continue to be rate-regulated on a cost-of-service basis as the
Settlement Agreement allows for the recovery of the remaining
regulatory assets through that portion of the business.
I. INCOME TAXES

The tax effect of temporary differences (differences between
the periods in which transactions affect income in the financial
statements and the periods in which they affect the determination
of taxable income) is accounted for in accordance with the ratemaking treatment of the applicable regulatory commissions.

The tax effect of temporary differences, including timing
differences accrued under previously approved accounting standards, that give rise to the accumulated deferred tax obligation
is as follows:
At December 31,
(Millions of Dollars)

Accelerated depreciation and
other plant-related differences
Net operating loss carryforwards
Regulatory assets —
income tax gross-up
Other

1999

1998

$1,388.0
—

$1,537.9
(33.4)

241.2
58.9

370.0
(25.8)

$1,688.1

$1,848.7

As of December 31, 1999, PSNH had an Investment Tax
Credit carryforward of $23 million, which if unused, expires
in 2004.
J. RECOVERABLE ENERGY COSTS

Energy Policy Act of 1992: Under the Energy Policy Act of 1992
(Energy Act), CL&P, PSNH, WMECO, and NAEC are assessed
for their proportionate shares of the costs of decontaminating
and decommissioning uranium enrichment plants owned by
the United States Department of Energy (DOE) (D&D Assessment).
The Energy Act requires that regulators treat D&D Assessments
as a reasonable and necessary current cost of fuel, to be fully
recovered in rates like any other fuel cost. CL&P, PSNH, WMECO,
and NAEC are currently recovering these costs through rates.
As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, the NU system’s total D&D
Assessment deferrals were $38.4 million and $57.5 million,
respectively.
CL&P: Through December 31, 1999, CL&P had an energy
adjustment clause under which fuel prices above or below
base-rate levels were charged to or credited to customers. At
December 31, 1999 and 1998, recoverable energy costs included
$62.6 million and $78.1 million, respectively, of costs previously deferred. Coincident with the start of restructuring, the
fuel clause was terminated. The balance at December 31,
1999, has been recorded as a generation-related stranded cost
and will be recovered through a transition charge mechanism.
PSNH: The Rate Agreement includes a fuel and purchasedpower adjustment clause (FPPAC) permitting PSNH to pass
through to retail customers, for a 10-year period that began in
May 1991, the retail portion of differences between the fuel
and purchased-power costs assumed in the Rate Agreement and
PSNH’s actual costs, which include the costs related to the
Seabrook Power Contracts and the Clean Air Act Amendment.
The cost components of the FPPAC are subject to a prudence
review by the NHPUC. At December 31, 1999 and 1998, PSNH
had $120.7 million and $156.3 million, respectively, of noncurrent recoverable energy costs deferred under the FPPAC. If the
Settlement Agreement is approved, the FPPAC will be recovered
through a transition charge.
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K. DEFERRED COSTS — NUCLEAR PLANTS

Under the Rate Agreement, the plant costs of Seabrook were
phased into rates over a 7-year period beginning May 15,
1991. Total costs deferred under the phase-in plan were $288
million. This plan is accounted for in compliance with SFAS
No. 92, “Regulated Enterprises — Accounting for Phase-In
Plans.” The costs will be fully recovered from PSNH’s customers
by May 2001.
L. UNRECOVERED CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

Under the terms of contracts with the Yankee Companies, the
shareholder-sponsored companies are responsible for their
proportionate share of the remaining costs of the units, including
decommissioning. As management expects that the NU system
companies will be allowed to recover these costs from their customers, the NU system companies have recorded regulatory assets,
with corresponding obligations, on their respective balance sheets.
M. INTEREST RATE RISK MANAGEMENT INSTRUMENTS

The NU system utilizes market risk management instruments to
hedge well-defined risks associated with variable interest rates.
To qualify for hedge treatment, the underlying hedged item
must expose the company to risks associated with market fluctuations and the market risk management instrument used
must be designated as a hedge and must reduce the NU system’s
exposure to market fluctuations throughout the period. Amounts
receivable or payable under interest rate risk management instruments are accrued and offset against interest expense.
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N. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and shortterm cash investments which are highly liquid in nature and
have original maturities of three months or less.
2. NUCLEAR DECOMMISSIONING AND
PLANT CLOSURE COSTS

Millstone and Seabrook: The NU system operating nuclear power
plants, Millstone 2 and 3 and Seabrook, have service lives that
are expected to end during the years 2015 through 2026, and
upon retirement, must be decommissioned. Millstone 1’s expected
service life was to end in 2010, however, in July 1998, restart
activities were discontinued and preparations for decommissioning the unit began. Current decommissioning studies conclude
that complete and immediate dismantlement as soon as practical
after retirement continues to be the most viable and economic
method of decommissioning a unit. These studies are reviewed
and updated periodically to reflect changes in decommissioning
requirements, costs, technology, and inflation. Changes in requirements or technology, the timing of funding or dismantling or
adoption of a decommissioning method other than immediate
dismantlement would change decommissioning cost estimates
and the amounts required to be recovered. CL&P, PSNH and
WMECO attempt to recover sufficient amounts through their
allowed rates to cover their expected decommissioning costs.

The estimated cost of decommissioning Millstone 2, in year
end 1999 dollars is $413.4 million. The NU system’s ownership
share of the estimated cost of decommissioning Millstone 3 and
Seabrook in year end 1999 dollars, is $421.3 million and $226.2
million, respectively. Nuclear decommissioning costs are accrued
over the expected service lives of the units and are included in
depreciation expense. Nuclear decommissioning expenses for these
units amounted to $30.6 million in 1999, $27.9 million in
1998 and $28.6 million in 1997. Nuclear decommissioning, as
a cost of removal, is included in the accumulated provision for
depreciation. Through December 31, 1999 and 1998, total decommissioning expenses of $260.6 million and $229.7 million,
respectively, have been collected from customers and are reflected
in the accumulated provision for depreciation.
A Post-Shutdown Decommissioning Activities Report for
Millstone 1 was filed with the Nuclear Regulatory Commission
(NRC) in June 1999 which outlines decommissioning activities,
and costs, and supports the obligation recorded by the company.
Nuclear decommissioning expenses for Millstone 1 were $25.7
million in 1999, $19.8 million in 1998 and $20.2 million in 1997.
External decommissioning trusts have been established for
the costs of decommissioning the Millstone units. Payments
for the NU system’s ownership share of the cost of decommissioning Seabrook are paid to an independent decommissioning
financing fund managed by the state of New Hampshire. Funding
of the estimated decommissioning costs assumes levelized collections for the Millstone units and escalated collections for Seabrook
and after-tax earnings on the Millstone and Seabrook decommissioning funds of 5.5 percent and 6.5 percent, respectively.
As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, CL&P, PSNH and
WMECO collected a total of $260.6 million and $229.7 million,
respectively, through rates toward the future decommissioning
costs of their shares of Millstone 2 and 3 and Seabrook, of
which $239.7 million in 1999 and $209.9 million in 1998 have
been transferred to external decommissioning trusts. Earnings
on the decommissioning trusts increase the decommissioning
trust balances and the accumulated reserves for depreciation.
Unrealized gains and losses associated with the decommissioning
trusts and financing funds also impact the balance of the trusts
and the accumulated reserve for depreciation. The fair values
of the amounts in the external decommissioning trusts were
$410.2 million and $349.9 million at December 31, 1999 and
1998, respectively.
Yankee Companies: VYNPC owns and operates a nuclear
generating unit with a service life that is expected to end in
2012. The NU system’s ownership share of estimated costs, in
year end 1999 dollars, of decommissioning this unit is $68.6
million. On October 15, 1999, VYNPC agreed to sell the unit
for $22 million to an unaffiliated company. Among other
commitments, the acquiring company agreed to assume the decommissioning cost of the unit after it is taken out of service, and
the VYNPC owners have agreed to fund the uncollected
decommissioning cost to a negotiated amount at the time of
the closing of the sale.
As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, NU’s remaining estimated
obligation, including decommissioning for the units owned by
CYAPC, YAEC and MYAPC, which have been shut down was
$358.4 million and $418.8 million, respectively.

3 . S H O RT- T E R M D E B T

Limits: The amount of short-term borrowings that may be
incurred by NU and the NU system operating companies is subject to periodic approval by either the SEC under the 1935 Act
or by the respective state regulators. SEC authorization allowed
NU, CL&P, WMECO, and NAEC, as of January 1, 1999, to
incur total short-term borrowings up to a maximum of $400
million, $375 million, $250 million, and $60 million, respectively.
In addition, the charters of CL&P and WMECO contain preferred stock provisions restricting the amount of unsecured debt
those companies may incur. As of December 31, 1999, CL&P’s
and WMECO’s charters permit CL&P and WMECO to incur
$322 million and $132 million, respectively, of unsecured debt.
PSNH is authorized under a NHPUC order to incur short-term
borrowings up to a maximum of $68.3 million.
Credit Agreements: On November 19, 1999, CL&P and
WMECO entered into a new 364-day revolving credit facility for
$500 million, replacing the previous $313.75 million facility
which was to expire on November 21, 1999. The revolving credit
facility will be used to bridge gaps in working capital and provide short-term liquidity. CL&P and WMECO may draw up to
$300 million and $200 million, respectively, under the facility
which is secured by second mortgages on Millstone 2 and 3. Unless
extended, the new credit facility will expire on November 17,
2000. At December 31, 1999 and 1998, there were $213 million and $30 million, respectively, in borrowings under
these facilities.
To support the working capital needs of NU and its unregulated
subsidiaries, NU replaced its $25 million 364-day revolving
credit facility which was to expire on November 21, 1999, with
a new 364-day unsecured revolving credit facility (NU Credit
Agreement) on November 19, 1999. This new facility provides a
total commitment of $350 million which is available subject
to two overlapping sub-limits. First, subject to the notional amount
of any letters of credit outstanding, amounts up to $200 million are available for advances. Second, subject to the advances
outstanding, letters of credit may be issued in notional amounts
up to $250 million. Unless extended, this credit facility will expire
on November 17, 2000. As of December 31, 1999 and 1998,
there were $65 million and no borrowings under the NU Credit
Agreement and the previous credit facility, respectively. In regard
to credit support, NU had $29 million in letters of credit issued
under this agreement as of December 31, 1999.

In addition, NU provides credit assurance in the form of
guarantees, letters of credit, performance guarantees and other
assurances for the financial performance obligations of certain
of its unregulated subsidiaries. NU currently has authorization
from the SEC to provide up to $500 million of guarantees, but
is limited under certain loan agreements to $350 million of
such arrangements without creditor approval. As of December
31, 1999, NU had provided approximately $190 million of
such credit assurances.
Under the credit agreements discussed above, the respective
borrowers may borrow at fixed or variable rates plus an applicable
margin based upon the companies’ most senior secured debt
as rated by the lower of Standard and Poor’s or Moody’s Investor
Service (Moody’s). The weighted average interest rate on the
NU system companies’ notes payable to banks outstanding on
December 31, 1999 and 1998, was 7.928 percent and 6.53
percent, respectively. Maturities of short-term debt obligations
were for periods of three months or less.
These credit agreements provide that the parties to these
agreements must comply with certain financial and nonfinancial
covenants as are customarily included in such agreements,
including, but not limited to, common equity ratios, interest
coverage ratios and dividend payment restrictions.
4. LEASES

CL&P and WMECO finance their nuclear fuel for Millstone 2

and their respective shares of the nuclear fuel for Millstone 3
under the Niantic Bay Fuel Trust (NBFT) capital lease agreement.
This capital lease agreement has an expiration date of June 1,
2040. At December 31, 1999 and 1998, the present value of
the capital lease obligation to the NBFT was $157 million and
$178.7 million, respectively. In connection with the planned
nuclear divestiture, CL&P and WMECO anticipate that the NBFT
capital lease agreement will be terminated and the NBFT’s
obligation under the $180 million Series G Intermediate Term
Note agreement will be assigned to CL&P and WMECO.
CL&P and WMECO make quarterly lease payments for the
cost of nuclear fuel consumed in the reactors based on a units-ofproduction method at rates which reflect estimated kilowatt-hours
of energy provided plus financing costs associated with the fuel
in the reactors. Upon permanent discharge from the reactors,
ownership of the nuclear fuel transfers to CL&P and WMECO.
The NU system companies also have entered into lease agreements, some of which are capital leases, for the use of data
processing and office equipment, vehicles, nuclear control room
simulators, and office space. The provisions of these lease agreements generally provide for renewal options.
Capital lease rental payments charged to operating expense
were $20.8 million in 1999, $31 million in 1998 and $19 million
in 1997. Interest included in capital lease rental payments was
$13.7 million in 1999, $18.3 million in 1998 and $13.6 million in 1997. Operating lease rental payments charged to expense
were $7.5 million in 1999, $15.7 million in 1998 and $17.3
million in 1997.
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Future minimum rental payments, excluding annual nuclear
fuel lease payments and executory costs, such as property taxes,
state use taxes, insurance and maintenance, under long-term
noncancelable leases, as of December 31, 1999 are:
(Millions of Dollars)
Capital
Leases

Operating
Leases

7.4
4.9
3.1
3.1
3.0
30.6

$ 24.4
22.6
19.0
15.5
13.6
26.9

Future minimum lease payments
Less amount representing interest

52.1
27.8

$122.0

Present value of future
minimum lease payments
for other than nuclear fuel
Present value of future
nuclear fuel lease payments

24.3

Year

2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
After 2004

Present value of future
minimum lease payments

$

157.0
$181.3
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5. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
A. PENSION BENEFITS AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
OTHER THAN PENSIONS

The NU system companies participate in a uniform noncontributory defined benefit retirement plan covering substantially
all regular NU system employees. Benefits are based on years
of service and the employees’ highest eligible compensation during
60 consecutive months of employment. The total pension credit,
part of which was credited to utility plant, was $54.4 million
in 1999, $44.1 million in 1998 and $22.5 million in 1997.
Currently, the NU system companies annually fund an amount
at least equal to that which will satisfy the requirements of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act and Internal Revenue
Code (the Code).
The NU system companies also provide certain health care
benefits, primarily medical and dental, and life insurance benefits
through a benefit plan to retired employees. These benefits are
available for employees retiring from the NU system who have
met specified service requirements. For current employees and
certain retirees, the total benefit is limited to two times the 1993
per retiree health care cost. These costs are charged to expense
over the future estimated work life of the employee. The NU
system companies annually fund postretirement costs through
external trusts with amounts that have been rate-recovered and
which also are tax deductible under the Code.
Pension and trust assets are invested primarily in domestic
and international equity securities and bonds.
The following table represents information on the plans’
benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets, and the respective
plans’ funded status:
At December 31,
Pension Benefits

(Millions of Dollars)

1999

Postretirement Benefits
1998

1999

1998

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan amendment
Transfers
Actuarial gain/(loss)
Benefits paid
Settlements

$(1,479.2)
(43.7)
(106.3)
(79.6)
—
133.8
78.3
(19.9)

$ (1,392.8)
(37.4)
(96.8)
—
8.5
(37.7)
77.0
—

$(305.2)
(7.6)
(21.8)
—
—
(1.3)
28.9
0.2

$(286.0)
(6.6)
(20.9)
—
—
(16.1)
24.4
—

Benefit obligation at end of year

$(1,516.6)

$ (1,479.2)

$(306.8)

$(305.2)

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contribution
Benefits paid
Transfers

$ 2,098.0
310.5
—
(78.3)
—

$ 1,919.4
264.7
—
(77.0)
(9.1)

$ 151.2
18.7
29.7
(28.9)
—

$ 129.4
17.4
28.8
(24.4)
—

Fair value of plan assets at end of year

$ 2,330.2

$ 2,098.0

$ 170.7

$ 151.2

Funded status at December 31
Unrecognized transition (asset)/obligation
Unrecognized prior service cost
Unrecognized net gain

$

$

618.8
(9.0)
27.6
(670.4)

$(136.1)
196.6
—
(60.4)

$(154.0)
211.9
—
(57.9)

Prepaid/(accrued) benefit cost

$

$

(33.0)

$

$

813.6
(7.4)
99.2
(904.7)
0.7

0.1

—

The following actuarial assumptions were used in calculating the plans’ year end funded status:
At December 31,
Pension Benefits
1999

Discount rate
Compensation/progression rate
Health care cost trend rate(a)
(a)

Postretirement Benefits
1998

7.75%
4.75
N/A

1999

7.00%
4.25
N/A

7.75%
4.75
5.57

1998

7.00%
4.25
5.22

The annual per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed to decrease to 4.90 percent by 2001.

The components of net periodic benefit cost are:
For the Years Ended December 31,
Pension Benefits
(Millions of Dollars)

1999

Postretirement Benefits

1998

1997

1999

1998

1997

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Amortization of unrecognized net transition
(asset)/obligation
Amortization of prior service cost
Amortization of actuarial gain
Other amortization, net
Settlements

$ 43.7
106.3
(175.5)

$ 37.4
96.8
(153.2)

$ 34.9
98.6
(135.1)

$ 7.6
21.8
(11.7)

$ 6.6
20.9
(9.9)

$ 5.7
20.6
(8.1)

(1.5)
7.9
(33.5)
—
(1.8)

(1.5)
2.1
(25.7)
—
—

(1.5)
2.1
(18.9)
—
(2.6)

15.1
—
—
(3.1)
—

15.1
—
—
(3.8)
—

15.1
—
—
(5.0)
—

Net periodic benefit (credit)/cost

$(54.4)

$ (44.1)

$ (22.5)

$ 29.7

$28.9

$28.3

For calculating pension and postretirement benefit costs, the following assumptions were used:
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For the Years Ended December 31,
Pension Benefits
1999

Discount rate
Expected long-term rate of return
Compensation/progression rate
Long-term rate of return —
Health assets, net of tax
Life assets

Effect on total service and
interest cost components
Effect on postretirement
benefit obligation

One Percentage
Point Increase

1997

1999

1998

1997

7.00%
9.50
4.25

7.25%
9.50
4.25

7.75%
9.25
4.75

7.00%
N/A
4.25

7.25%
N/A
4.25

7.75%
N/A
4.75

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

N/A
N/A

7.50
9.50

7.75
9.50

7.50
9.25

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on
the amounts reported for the health care plans. The effect of
changing the assumed health care cost trend rate by one percentage point in each year would have the following effects:

(Millions of Dollars)

1998

Postretirement Benefits

One Percentage
Point Decrease

$ 1.4

$ (1.4)

$16.4

$(16.1)

The trust holding the health plan assets is subject to federal
income taxes.

B. 401(K) SAVINGS PLAN

NU maintains a 401(k) Savings Plan for substantially all NU

system employees. This savings plan provides for employee
contributions up to specified limits. NU matches employee contributions up to a maximum of 3 percent of eligible compensation
with cash and NU stock. The matching contributions made by
NU were $13.8 million for 1999, $13.2 million for 1998 and
$12 million for 1997.

C. ESOP

D. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

NU maintains an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) for

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP): Since July 1998, the
NU system has maintained an ESPP for all eligible employees.
Under the ESPP, shares of NU common stock may be purchased at 6-month intervals at 85 percent of the lower of the
price on the first or last day of each 6-month period. Employees
may purchase shares having a value not exceeding 25 percent
of their compensation at the beginning of the purchase period.
During 1999 and 1998, employees purchased 253,853 and
129,471 shares, respectively, at discounted prices ranging
from $13.76 to $14.93 per share in 1999 and $13.60 per
share in 1998. At December 31, 1999 and 1998, 1,616,676
and 1,870,529 shares remained reserved for future issuance
under the ESPP, respectively.
Incentive Plans: The NU system has long-term incentive
plans authorizing various types of share-based awards, including stock options, to be made to eligible employees and board
members. The exercise price of stock options, as set at the time
of grant, is generally equal to the fair market value per share
at the date of grant. Under the Northeast Utilities Incentive
Plan (Incentive Plan), the number of shares which may be utilized
for awards granted during a given calendar year may not exceed
one percent of the total number of shares of NU common stock
outstanding as of the first day of that calendar year.
Stock option transactions for 1997, 1998 and 1999 are
as follows:

purposes of allocating shares to employees participating in
the NU system’s 401(k) Savings Plan. Under this arrangement,
NU issued unsecured notes during 1991 and 1992 totaling $250
million, the proceeds of which were lent to the ESOP trust for
the purchase of 10.8 million newly issued NU common
shares (ESOP Shares). The ESOP trust is obligated to make
principal and interest payments on the ESOP notes at the same
rate that ESOP Shares are allocated to employees. NU makes
annual contributions to the ESOP equal to the ESOP’s debt
service, less dividends received by the ESOP. All dividends
received by the ESOP on unallocated shares are used to pay
debt service and are not considered dividends for financial
reporting purposes. During the fourth quarter of 1999, NU
paid a 10 cent per share dividend. During 1998, there were
no dividends paid on NU stock.
In 1999 and 1998, the ESOP trust issued 556,978 and
584,107 of NU common shares, respectively, to satisfy 401(k)
Savings Plan obligations to employees. As of December 31,
1999 and 1998, the total allocated ESOP shares were 5,281,836
and 4,724,858, respectively, and total unallocated ESOP shares
were 5,518,349 and 6,075,327, respectively. The fair market
value of unallocated ESOP shares as of December 31, 1999
and 1998, was $113.5 million and $97.2 million, respectively.

Exercise Price Per Share
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Options

Weighted
Average

Range

Outstanding December 31, 1996
Granted

—
500,000

Outstanding December 31, 1997
Granted
Forfeited

500,000
741,273
(7,595)

$ 9.625
$ 14.875 — $ 16.8125
$ 16.3125

$ 9.625
$ 16.178
$ 16.3125

Outstanding December 31, 1998
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

1,233,678
644,123
(19,368)
(32,177)

$ 9.625 — $ 16.8125
$ 14.9375 — $ 21.125
$ 16.3125 — $ 16.8125
$ 14.9375 — $ 16.3125

$ 13.5213
$ 15.2514
$ 16.3986
$ 15.8714

Outstanding December 31, 1999

1,826,256

$

9.625 — $ 21.125

$ 14.0585

$
—
$ 14.875 — $ 16.8125
$ 9.625 — $ 21.125

$
—
$ 16.2972
$ 14.0102

Exercisable December 31, 1997
Exercisable December 31, 1998
Exercisable December 31, 1999

—
232,936
711,787

$
$

—
9.625

$
$

—
9.625

The vesting schedule for the options granted in 1997 is 50
percent after two years, 75 percent after three years and the total
award after four years. The vesting schedule for the options
granted in 1998 is one-third upon grant, two-thirds after one
year and the total award after two years. The options that
were granted in 1999 vest ratably over three years from the
date of grant.
Also under the Incentive Plan, the NU system awarded 91,120
and 49,973 of restricted shares in 1999 and 1998, respectively.
These shares have the same vesting schedule as the options granted
under the Incentive Plan. During 1997, certain key officers
were awarded restricted stock totaling 25,700 shares which vest
ratably over three years from the date of grant. The NU system
has also made several small grants of restricted stock and other
incentive-based stock compensation. During 1999, 1998 and
1997, $2.2 million, $0.8 million and $0.3 million, respectively,
was expensed for stock-based compensation.
Had compensation cost been determined for the ESPP and
the incentive plan stock options under the fair value method
as opposed to the intrinsic value method followed by the NU
system, net income/(loss) and net income/(loss) per share
would have been as follows:
(Millions of Dollars,
except per share amounts)

Net income/(loss)
Basic income/(loss)
per share
Diluted income/(loss)
per share

1999

1998

1997

$29.6

$(149.1) $ (130.0)

$0.23

$ (1.14) $ (1.01)

$0.22

$ (1.14) $ (1.01)

The fair value of each stock option grant has been estimated
on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model
with the following weighted average assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate
Expected life
Expected volatility
Expected dividend yield

1999

1998

1997

5.69%
10 years
36.21%
1.89%

5.82%
10 years
35.05%
5.46%

6.41%
10 years
31.89%
7.42%

The weighted average grant date fair values of options granted
during 1999, 1998 and 1997 were $6.79, $3.98 and $1.68, respectively. As of December 31, 1999, the weighted average remaining
contractual life for those options outstanding is 8.47 years.
6. SALE OF CUSTOMER RECEIVABLES

As of December 31, 1999 and 1998, CL&P had sold accounts
receivable of $170 million and $105 million, respectively, to a
third-party purchaser with limited recourse through the CL&P
Receivables Corporation (CRC), a wholly owned subsidiary of
CL&P. In addition, at December 31, 1999 and 1998, $22.5
million and $11.6 million, respectively, of assets was designated
as collateral under the agreement with CRC.
On June 30, 1999, WMECO terminated its $40 million accounts
receivable program with its respective sponsor. At December
31, 1998, WMECO had sold accounts receivable of $20 million
to a third-party purchaser.

Concentrations of credit risk to the purchaser under the company’s agreement with respect to the receivables are limited
due to CL&P’s diverse customer base within its service territory.
7. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

A. RESTRUCTURING

Connecticut: During 1999, restructuring orders were issued by
the DPUC which required CL&P to discontinue the application
of SFAS No. 71 to the generation portion of its business and
allowed for the recovery of the majority of its stranded costs.
Stranded costs including regulatory assets will be collected through
a transition charge through 2026. The restructuring orders
also allowed for securitization of CL&P’s nonnuclear regulatory
assets and the costs to buyout or buydown the various purchased-power contracts. Securitization is the process of monetizing
stranded costs through the sale of nonrecourse debt securities
by a special purpose entity, collateralized by CL&P’s interests
in its stranded cost recoveries.
On December 15, 1999, the DPUC issued a supplemental
decision approving the components of CL&P’s rates for standard
offer service commencing on January 1, 2000. The DPUC also
approved an interim nuclear capital recovery mechanism for the
period from January 1, 2000, until the nuclear units are sold
at auction. In approving the rates, the DPUC denied recovery of
most of the capital additions made to Millstone 2 and 3 subsequent to June 30, 1997, which the company has or will expend
to maintain those plants in a safe and efficient condition or to
maintain their auction value. If implemented as approved, the
company would not recover a significant portion of the capital
additions which have been or are expected to be incurred subsequent to July 1, 1997, until the plants are sold in 2001. On
December 29, 1999, CL&P filed with the DPUC a petition for
reconsideration of this portion of the order. The DPUC has agreed
to reopen the docket to consider CL&P’s petition. Management
believes the restructuring legislation provides for the recovery
of these prudently incurred expenditures. If CL&P is unsuccessful
in favorably resolving this contingency, an impairment loss of
$50 million would be recorded.
Massachusetts: In 1999, restructuring orders required WMECO
to discontinue the application of SFAS No. 71 for the generation
portion of its business. In these restructuring orders, WMECO
was allowed to recover the majority of its stranded costs through
a transition charge over the 12-year transition period beginning
March 1, 1998. The decision instructed WMECO to work with
the Massachusetts attorney general regarding the recovery of
nuclear capital additions made after July 1, 1991. The decision
also concluded that the company’s deferred fuel balance should
be included as part of the company’s outstanding generating
unit performance proceedings and not as part of the transition
charge. Management believes that these costs are recoverable
and that there will not be an impact on the results of operations.
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Nuclear Generation Assets Auction: In September 1999, NU
announced that the Millstone nuclear generation assets of CL&P
and WMECO will be put up for auction as soon as practical. On
November 8, 1999, CL&P filed its divestiture plan for the
Millstone units with the DPUC. The auction is expected to begin
in early 2000, provided all regulatory approvals have been met,
with a successful bidder chosen by mid 2000 and a closing in
2001. No NU system company will participate as a bidder in
the auction process. Management expects to recover all of its
nuclear stranded costs through the net proceeds of generation asset
sales and through billing a transition charge to retail customers.
New Hampshire: In August 1999, NU, PSNH and the state of
New Hampshire signed a Settlement Agreement intended to
settle a number of pending regulatory and court proceedings
related to PSNH. Parties to the agreement included the governor of New Hampshire, the Governor’s Office of Energy and
Community Service, the New Hampshire attorney general,
certain members of the staff of the NHPUC, PSNH and NU. The
Settlement Agreement was submitted to the NHPUC on August
2, 1999, and is awaiting approval. If approved by the NHPUC,
the Settlement Agreement would resolve 11 NHPUC dockets
and PSNH’s federal lawsuit which had enjoined the state of New
Hampshire from implementing its restructuring legislation,
would require PSNH to write off $225 million after-tax of its
stranded costs and would allow for the recovery of the remaining amount. Also, implementation of the Settlement Agreement
is contingent upon the issuance of $725 million in rate reduction
bonds (securitization). Issuance of the rate reduction bonds
requires the initial approval of the NHPUC and final approval
from the New Hampshire Legislature via enactment of appropriate
legislation. Other approvals are also required from various
federal and state regulatory agencies and financial lenders. Under
the terms of the Settlement Agreement, on the effective date,
PSNH’s rates will be reduced from current levels by an average
of 18.3 percent. Due to the number of approvals required and
still pending to implement the Settlement Agreement, management
continues to believe the application of SFAS No. 71 is appropriate
for PSNH at this time.
The Settlement Agreement also requires PSNH to sell its
generation assets and certain power contracts, including PSNH’s
current purchased-power contract with NAEC for the output
from Seabrook. The net proceeds from all sales will be used to
recover a portion of PSNH’s stranded costs. The sales would
be accomplished through an auction process subject to approval
by the NHPUC. Following the divestiture, the transmission
and distribution portion of the business will continue to be costof-service based.

Phase I of the proceeding regarding the Settlement Agreement
allowed proponents to provide sufficient record for the NHPUC
to compare the Settlement Agreement to a range of reasonable
outcomes in the other associated dockets. The NHPUC also
determined within the testimony of Phase I that the Con Edison
merger is relevant to the Settlement Agreement and intervening
parties should have discovery in Phase II to evaluate the impact
of the merger on the Settlement Agreement. Phase II allowed
opponents to file testimony concerning the Settlement Agreement
and then allowed proponents to conduct discovery and file
rebuttal testimony. A decision on the Settlement Agreement is
expected in the first quarter of 2000.
B. NUCLEAR LITIGATION

The non-NU joint owners of Millstone 3 have filed demands for
arbitration with CL&P and WMECO as well as lawsuits in
Massachusetts Superior Court against NU and its current and
former trustees related to the companies’ operation of Millstone
3. During 1999, NU and these subsidiaries agreed in principle to
settle with certain of the joint owners, who own 58 percent of
the non-NU ownership of Millstone 3. The settlements provide
for the payment to the claimants of $36.4 million and certain
contingent payments.
Arbitration and litigation claims remain outstanding for the
remaining joint owners who have not agreed to settle. Management
cannot estimate the potential outcome of the arbitration and
litigation for the nonsettled joint owners, therefore, no liability
has been established as of December 31, 1999.
C. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

The NU system is subject to environmental laws and regulations intended to mitigate or remove the effect of past operations
and improve or maintain the quality of our environment. As
such, the NU system has an active environmental auditing and
training program and believes it is in compliance with the
current laws and regulations.
However, the normal course of operations may necessarily
involve activities and substances that expose the NU system to
potential liabilities of which management cannot determine
the outcome. Additionally, management cannot determine the
outcome for liabilities that may be imposed for past acts, even
though such past acts may have been lawful at the time they
occurred. Management does not believe, however, that this will
have a material impact on the NU system’s financial statements.
Based upon currently available information for the estimated
remediation costs as of December 31, 1999 and 1998, the
liability recorded by the NU system for its estimated environmental remediation costs amounted to $24.8 million and
$21.5 million, respectively.

D. SPENT NUCLEAR FUEL DISPOSAL COSTS

F. C O N S T R U C T I O N P R O G R A M

Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, CL&P, PSNH,
WMECO, and NAEC must pay the DOE for the disposal of
spent nuclear fuel and high-level radioactive waste. The DOE
is responsible for the selection and development of repositories
for, and the disposal of, spent nuclear fuel and high-level
radioactive waste. Fees for nuclear fuel burned on or after April
7, 1983, are billed currently to customers and paid to the DOE
on a quarterly basis. For nuclear fuel used to generate electricity prior to April 7, 1983 (Prior Period Fuel), an accrual
has been recorded for the full liability and payment must be
made prior to the first delivery of spent fuel to the DOE. Until
such payment is made, the outstanding balance will continue
to accrue interest at the 3-month treasury bill yield rate. As of
December 31, 1999 and 1998, fees due to the DOE for the
disposal of Prior Period Fuel were $226.5 million and $216.4
million, respectively, including interest costs of $144.3 million
and $134 million, respectively.

The NU system companies currently forecast construction expenditures of $1.8 billion for the years 2000-2004, including
$309.7 million for 2000. The NU system companies estimate
that nuclear fuel requirements, including nuclear fuel financed
through the NBFT, will be $217.8 million for the years 20002003, including $74.2 million for 2000.

E. NUCLEAR INSURANCE CONTINGENCIES

Insurance policies covering the NU system’s nuclear facilities
have been purchased for the primary cost of repair, replacement
or decontamination of utility property, certain extra costs incurred
in obtaining replacement power during prolonged accidental outages
and the excess cost of repair, replacement or decontamination
or premature decommissioning of utility property.
The NU system is subject to retroactive assessments if losses
under those policies exceed the accumulated funds available to
the insurer. The maximum potential assessments with respect
to losses arising during the current policy year for the primary
property insurance program, the replacement power policies
and the excess property damage policies are $11 million, $6.2
million and $15 million, respectively. In addition, insurance
has been purchased in the aggregate amount of $200 million on
an industry basis for coverage of worker claims.
Under certain circumstances, in the event of a nuclear incident at one of the nuclear facilities covered by the federal
government’s third-party liability indemnification program, the
NU system could be assessed liabilities in proportion to its
ownership interest in each of its nuclear units up to $83.9 million. The NU system’s payment of this assessment would be
limited to, in proportion to its ownership interest in each of its
nuclear units, $10 million in any one year per nuclear unit. In
addition, if the sum of all claims and costs from any one nuclear
incident exceeds the maximum amount of financial protection,
the NU system would be subject to an additional 5 percent or
$4.2 million liability, in proportion to its ownership interests
in each of its nuclear units. Based upon its ownership interests
in the Millstone units and in Seabrook, the NU system’s maximum liability, including any additional assessments, would be
$271 million per incident, of which payments would be limited
to $30.8 million per year. In addition, through purchased-power
contracts with VYNPC, the NU system would be responsible
for up to an additional assessment of $14.1 million per incident,
of which payments would be limited to $1.6 million per year.

G. LONG-TERM CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Yankee Companies: The NU system companies relied on VYNPC
for 1.5 percent of their capacity under long-term contracts.
Under the terms of their agreements, the NU system companies
paid their ownership (or entitlement) shares of costs, which
included depreciation, operation and maintenance (O&M)
expenses, taxes, the estimated cost of decommissioning, and
a return on invested capital. These costs were recorded as purchased-power expenses and recovered through the companies’
rates. The total cost of purchases under contracts with VYNPC
amounted to $29.2 million in 1999, $27.3 million in 1998 and
$24.2 million in 1997. VYNPC has agreed to sell its nuclear
unit. Upon completion of the sale, this long-term contract
will be terminated.
Nonutility Generators (NUGs): CL&P, PSNH and WMECO
have entered into various arrangements for the purchase of
capacity and energy from NUGs. For the years ended December
31, 1999 and 1998, 13 percent and for the year ended
December 31, 1997, 14 percent, of NU system electricity requirements were met by NUGs. The total cost of purchases under
these arrangements amounted to $461.8 million in 1999, $459.7
million in 1998 and $447.6 million in 1997. The company is
in the process of renegotiating the terms of these contracts
through either a contract buydown or buyout. The company
expects any payments to the NUGs as result of these renegotiations to be recovered from the company’s customers.
Hydro-Quebec: Along with other New England utilities,
CL&P, PSNH, WMECO, and HWP have entered into agreements to support transmission and terminal facilities to import
electricity from the Hydro-Quebec system in Canada. CL&P,
PSNH, WMECO, and HWP are obligated to pay, over a 30year period ending in 2020, their proportionate shares of the
annual O&M expenses and capital costs of those facilities.
New Hampshire Electric Cooperative (NHEC): Previously,
PSNH entered into a buy-back agreement to purchase the
capacity and energy of the NHEC’s share of Seabrook and to
pay all of NHEC’s Seabrook costs for a 10-year period, which
began on July 1, 1990. The total cost of purchases under this
agreement was $33 million in 1999, $29.7 million in 1998
and $23.4 million in 1997. These costs are recoverable
through the FPPAC. The estimated annual cost of this
agreement for year 2000 is $14.6 million.
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Estimated Annual Costs: The estimated annual costs of the
NU system’s significant long-term contractual arrangements,

absent the effects of any contract terminations or buydowns
are as follows:
(Millions of Dollars)

VYNPC

NUGs
Hydro-Quebec

2000

2001

2002

2003

2004

$ 24.1 $ 21.8 $ 21.9 $ 21.5 $ 21.0
472.6 480.2 489.2 500.1 487.3
31.3
30.3
29.6
28.7
27.8

Select Energy: Select Energy maintains long-term agreements
to purchase both wholesale and retail energy in the normal course
of business. The notional amount of these purchase contracts
is $3.1 billion at December 31, 1999. These contracts extend
through 2004 as follows:
(Millions of Dollars)
Year

2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
Total

$1,271
638
573
499
101
$3,082

In 1999, CL&P divested substantially all of its fossil and hydroelectric generation assets and agreed to transfer the rights and
obligations related to the long-term negotiated energy contracts
to an unregulated affiliate. Accordingly, the fuel swap positions
were marked-to-market and CL&P recognized a loss of $5.2
million. In January 2000, the fuel swap positions were liquidated.
Credit Risk: These agreements have been made with various
financial institutions, each of which is rated “A3” or better
by Moody’s rating group. NAEC is exposed to credit risk on
its respective market risk management instruments if the counterparties fail to perform their obligations. Management anticipates
that the counterparties will fully satisfy their obligations under
the agreements.
Unregulated Energy Services Market Risk: NU’s unregulated
companies, as major providers of electricity and natural gas,
have certain market risks inherent in their business activities.
Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact the
companies’ financial position, results of operations or cash flows
due to adverse changes in commodity market prices. In 1999,
the companies increased their volume of the electricity and gas
marketing activities, increasing their risks. Policies and procedures have been established to manage these exposures including
the use of risk management instruments.
9. MINORITY INTEREST IN
CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARY

H. NEW ENGLAND POWER POOL (NEPOOL)
GENERATION PRICING
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Disputes with respect to interpretation and implementation of
the NEPOOL market rules have arisen with respect to various
competitive product markets. In certain cases, Select Energy
and the NU operating companies stand to gain as a result of
resolution of such disputes. In other cases, Select Energy and
the NU operating companies could incur additional costs as the
result of resolution of the disputes. The various disputes are in
various stages of resolution through alternative dispute resolution
and regulatory review. It is too early to tell the level of potential gain or loss that may result upon resolution of these issues.

CL&P Capital LP (CL&P LP), a subsidiary of CL&P, previously
had issued $100 million of cumulative 9.3 percent Monthly
Income Preferred Securities (MIPS), Series A. CL&P has the
sole ownership interest in CL&P LP, as a general partner, and
is the guarantor of the MIPS securities. Subsequent to the MIPS
issuance, CL&P LP loaned the proceeds of the MIPS issuance,
along with CL&P’s $3.1 million capital contribution, back to
CL&P in the form of an unsecured debenture. CL&P consolidates CL&P LP for financial reporting purposes. Upon
consolidation, the unsecured debenture is eliminated, and the
MIPS securities are accounted for as a minority interest.
10. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

8. MARKET RISK AND RISK
MANAGEMENT INSTRUMENTS

Interest Rate Risk Management: NAEC uses swap instruments
with financial institutions to hedge against interest rate risk
associated with its $200 million variable-rate bank note. Under
the agreements, NAEC exchanges quarterly payments based
on a differential between a fixed contractual interest rate and
the 3-month LIBOR rate at a given time. As of December 31,
1999 and 1998, NAEC had outstanding agreements with a total
notional value of $200 million and mark-to-market positions
of positive $0.5 million and negative $2.3 million, respectively.
Energy Price Risk Management: Beginning in 1997 through
1999, CL&P used swap instruments with financial institutions
to hedge the energy price risk created by long-term negotiated
energy contracts. These agreements were intended to minimize
exposure associated with rising fuel prices by managing a portion
of CL&P’s cost of producing power for these negotiated
energy contracts.

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate
the fair value of each of the following financial instruments:
Cash and cash equivalents: The carrying amounts approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of cash and cash
equivalents.
Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) Investments:
Investments held for the benefit of the SERP are recorded at
fair market value. The investments having a cost basis of $5.8
million and $5.4 million held for benefit of the SERP were recorded
at their fair market values at December 31, 1999 and 1998 of
$9.2 million and $8.7 million, respectively.
Nuclear decommissioning trusts: The investments held in
the NU system companies’ nuclear decommissioning trusts
were marked-to-market by $129 million as of December 31,
1999 and $110.4 million as of December 31, 1998, with corresponding offsets to the accumulated provision for depreciation.
The amounts adjusted in 1999 and in 1998 represent cumulative net unrealized gains. The cumulative gross unrealized
holding losses were immaterial for both 1999 and 1998.

Preferred stock and long-term debt: The fair value of the NU
system’s fixed-rate securities is based upon the quoted market
price for those issues or similar issues. Adjustable rate securities
are assumed to have a fair value equal to their carrying value.
The carrying amounts of the NU system’s financial instruments
and the estimated fair values are as follows:
At December 31, 1999

(Millions of Dollars)

Preferred stock not subject
to mandatory redemption
Preferred stock subject to
mandatory redemption
Long-term debt —
First mortgage bonds
Other long-term debt

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

$ 136.2

$ 164.0

167.5

166.8

1,193.2
1,638.3

1,209.5
1,430.1

100.0

97.3

MIPS

At December 31, 1998
Carrying
Amount

(Millions of Dollars)

Preferred stock not subject
to mandatory redemption
Preferred stock subject to
mandatory redemption
Long-term debt —
First mortgage bonds
Other long-term debt

$ 136.2

MIPS

Fair
Value

$

The changes in the components of other comprehensive
income are reported net of the following income tax effects:
(Thousands of Dollars)

Foreign currency
translation
adjustments
Unrealized gains
on securities
Minimum pension
liability adjustments

205.9

1,984.0
1,654.9
100.0

2,003.6
1,682.7
102.0

The accumulated balance for each other comprehensive
income item is as follows:

December 31,
1998

Foreign currency
translation adjustments $
(1)
Unrealized gains
on securities
2,019
Minimum pension
liability adjustments
(613)
Accumulated other
comprehensive income

(Thousands of Dollars)

1

December 31,
1999

$

118

$ 119

December 31,
1997

Current
Period
Change

—
2,137

—

$1,405

Foreign currency
translation adjustments
Unrealized gains
on securities
Minimum pension
liability adjustments
Accumulated other
comprehensive income

$

(71)
—

Other comprehensive
income

$(71)

$

1997

—

$359

(1,222)
398
$ (824)

—
—
$359

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share (EPS) is computed based upon the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during each
year. Diluted earnings per share is computed on the basis of the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus
the potential dilutive effect if certain securities are converted into
common stock.
The following table sets forth the components of basic and
diluted EPS:
(Millions of Dollars,
except share information)

Income/(loss) after
interest charges
Preferred dividends
of subsidiaries
Net income/(loss)

11. OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(Thousands of Dollars)

$—

1998

97.0

213.8

Current
Period
Change

1999

(613)
$ 1,524

Basic EPS
common shares
outstanding
(average)
Dilutive effect
of employee
stock options
Diluted EPS
common shares
outstanding
(average)
Basic earnings/
(loss) per share
Diluted earnings/
(loss) per share
(a)

December 31,
1998

1999

$ 57.0
22.8
$ 34.2

1998

$ (120.4)
26.4
$ (146.8)

1997

$ (99.7)
30.3
$(130.0)

131,415,126 130,549,760 129,567,708

616,447

—(a)

—(a)

132,031,573 130,549,760 129,567,708
$ 0.26

$(1.12)

$(1.01)

$ 0.26

$(1.12)

$(1.01)

The addition of dilutive potential common shares would be anti-dilutive for
1998 and 1997 and was not included.

13. MODE 1

$ (1)
—
—
$ (1)

$

—

2,019
(613)
$1,406

$

(1)
2,019
(613)

$ 1,405

In August 1998, NorthEast Optic Network, Inc. (NEON) issued
4,000,000 new common shares on the open market in an initial
public offering (IPO). The IPO had the effect of decreasing Mode
1’s ownership interest in NEON from 40.78 percent to 30.74
percent. The shares were issued at an amount greater than Mode
1’s investment, resulting in a $13.7 million pretax increase to
Mode 1’s equity. NU’s accounting policy is to recognize the gain
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or loss from this type of change in ownership interest in net
income. However, as a result of the startup nature of NEON’s
operations, this change in ownership interest was recognized
in additional paid in capital.
In conjunction with the IPO, Mode 1 sold 217,997 NEON
shares, resulting in a pretax gain of $1.7 million and further
reducing its ownership interest to 29.4 percent of the outstanding common shares of NEON.
On November 23, 1999, NEON entered into two agreements
with unaffiliated companies. Under the agreements, NEON will
provide network transport and carrier services among the service
areas of NEON and the two unaffiliated companies and each
company will provide connectivity from the backbone system
to their respective local loops. Additionally, each company will
manage their local distribution into their respective end-users’
locations. NEON will also develop, operate and market the
combined telecommunications infrastructure created under the
two agreements.
As the agreements are implemented, the two unaffiliated companies will ultimately obtain 10.75 percent and 9.25 percent
ownership interests, respectively, in NEON and will each
nominate one member to the NEON Board of Directors. The
agreements are subject to regulatory approvals, which are
expected by the spring of 2000.

Prior to 1999, the NU system evaluated management performance using a cost-based budget, therefore business segment
reporting on a comparative basis will not be available until the
year 2000.
15. MERGER AGREEMENT WITH CON EDISON

On October 13, 1999, NU and Con Edison announced that they
have agreed to a merger to combine the two companies. The
shareholders of NU will receive $25 per share in a combination
of cash and Con Edison common stock.
NU shareholders also have the right to receive an additional
$1 per share if a definitive agreement to sell its interests (other
than that now held by PSNH) in Millstone 2 and 3 is entered
into and recommended by the Utility Operations and Management
Unit of the DPUC on or prior to the later of December 31, 2000,
or the closing of the merger. Further, the value of the amount
of cash or common stock to be received by NU shareholders
is subject to increase by an amount of $0.0034 per share per
day for each day that the transaction does not close after
August 5, 2000.
Upon completion of the merger, NU will become a wholly
owned subsidiary of Con Edison. The purchase is subject to
the approval of the shareholders of both companies and several
regulatory agencies. The companies anticipate that these regulatory procedures will be completed by July 2000.

14. SEGMENT INFORMATION
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Effective January 1, 1999, the NU system companies adopted
SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise
and Related Information.” The NU system is organized between
regulated utilities and unregulated energy services.
The regulated utilities segment represents 87 percent of the
NU system’s total revenue and is comprised of several business
units including generation, transmission and distribution.
The unregulated energy services segment in the following table
includes NGC, NGS, Select Energy and HEC.
Other in the following table includes the results for Mode 1.
Mode 1 had a net loss of $4.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999. Interest expense included in Other primarily
relates to the debt of NU parent. Inter-segment eliminations of
revenues and expenses are also included in Other.
Regulated utilities revenues primarily are derived from residential, commercial and industrial customers and are not dependent
on any single customer. The unregulated energy services segment
has a major customer whose purchases represented 46 percent
of its total revenues for the year ended December 31, 1999.
For the Year Ended December 31, 1999
Regulated
Utilities

(Millions of Dollars)

Operating revenues
Operating expenses

Unregulated
Energy
Services

Other

Total

$ 3,888.7
(3,495.9)

$ 606.3
(646.7)

$(23.7)
15.9

$ 4,471.3
(4,126.7)

392.8
(36.4)
(247.8)
(22.8)

(40.4)
(1.2)
(1.0)
—

(7.8)
13.7
(14.9)
—

344.6
(23.9)
(263.7)
(22.8)

$ (42.6)

$ (9.0)

$

$ 222.5

$ 77.3

$ 9,688.1

Operating income/(loss)
Other (loss)/income
Interest expense
Preferred dividends
Net income/(loss)

$

Total assets

$ 9,388.3

85.8

34.2

C O N S O L I D AT E D S T AT E M E N T S O F Q U A R T E R LY F I N A N C I A L D AT A ( U N A U D I T E D )

Quarter Ended (a)
(Thousands of Dollars, except per share information)

1999
Operating Revenues
Operating Income
Net Income/(Loss)
Basic and Diluted Earnings/(Loss)
Per Common Share
1998
Operating Revenues
Operating Income
Net (Loss)/Income
Basic and Diluted (Loss)/Earnings
Per Common Share

March 31

June 30

September 30

$1,043,407
$ 89,638
$ 18,444

$1,038,569
$ 56,492
$
228

$1,240,539
$ 110,544
$ 31,218

$1,148,736
$ 87,863
$ (15,674)

$

$

$

$

0.14

—

0.24

December 31

(0.12)

$ 958,905
$ 40,488
$ (17,949)

$ 874,809
$ 76,296
$
6,273

$ 974,382
$ 82,675
$
(3,075)

$ 959,618
$ 25,268
$ (132,002)

$

$

$

$

(0.14)

0.05

(0.02)

(1.01)

CONSOLIDATED GENERATION STATISTICS (UNAUDITED)

1999

1998

1997

1996

1995

Source of Electric Energy: (kWh-millions)
Nuclear — Steam(b)
Fossil — Steam
Hydro — Conventional
Hydro — Pumped Storage
Internal Combustion
Energy Used for Pumping

13,558
10,959
1,206
944
262
(1,318)

5,679
12,505
1,510
819
80
(1,130)

3,778
13,155
1,260
959
184
(1,327)

9,405
9,188
1,544
1,217
206
(1,668)

18,235
9,162
1,099
1,209
37
(1,674)

Net Generation

25,611

19,463

18,009

19,892

28,068

Purchased and Net Interchange
Company Use and Unaccounted for

43,849
(2,612)

24,945
(2,566)

24,377
(2,802)

22,111
(2,473)

14,256
(2,706)

Net Energy Sold

66,848

41,842

39,584

39,530

39,618

System Capability — MW(b) (c)
System Peak Demand — MW
Nuclear Capacity — MW(b) (c)
Nuclear Contribution to Total
Energy Requirements (%)(b)
Nuclear Capacity Factor (%)(d)

8,194.2
7,188.2
2,218.5

8,169.6
6,454.7
2,217.8

8,312.0(d)
6,455.5
2,785.0(d)

8,894.0
5,946.9
3,117.8

8,394.8
6,358.2
3,239.6

38.0
86.4

19.0
32.8

28.0
38.0

52.0
69.9

13.0
19.6

(a)

Reclassifications of prior years’ data have been made to conform with the current presentation.

(b)

Includes the NU system’s entitlements in regional nuclear generating companies, net of capacity sales and purchases.

(c)

Millstone 2 returned to service during the second quarter of 1999, following NRC approval. Millstone 3 returned to service during the third quarter of 1998
following NRC approval. During the third quarter of 1998, CL&P and WMECO decided to retire Millstone 1 and prepare for final decommissioning.

(d)

Represents the average capacity factor for the nuclear units operated by the NU system.

53

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

(Thousands of Dollars,
except percentages and share information)

1999

1998

1997

1996

1995

Balance Sheet Data:
Net Utility Plant
Total Assets
Total Capitalization (a)
Obligations Under Capital Leases (a)

$3,947,434
9,688,052
5,216,456
181,293

$ 6,170,881
10,387,381
6,030,402
209,279

$ 6,463,158
10,414,412
6,472,504
207,731

$ 6,732,165
10,741,748
6,659,617
206,165

$ 7,000,837
10,559,574
6,820,624
230,482

Income Data:
Operating Revenues
Net Income/(Loss)

$4,471,251
34,216

$ 3,767,714
(146,753)

$ 3,834,806
(129,962)

$ 3,792,148
38,929

$ 3,750,560
282,434

$(1.12)

$(1.01)

$0.30

$2.24

130,549,760
$—
$17 1/4
$11 11/16

129,567,708
$0.25
$14 1/4
$7 5/8

127,960,382
$1.38
$25 1/4
$9 1/2

126,083,645
$1.76
$25 3/8
$21

$16
$15.63

$11 13/16
$16.67

$13 1/8
$18.02

$24 1/4
$19.08

1.6
0.7

12.0
1.3

Common Share Data:
Basic and Diluted Earnings/(Loss)
Per Common Share
$ 0.26
Common Shares
Outstanding (Average)
131,415,126
Dividends Per Share
$ 0.10
Market Price — High
$ 22
Market Price — Low
$13 9/16
Market Price — Closing
(end of year)
$20 9/16
Book Value Per Share (end of year)
$15.80
Rate of Return Earned on Average
Common Equity (%)
1.6
Market-to-Book Ratio (end of year)
1.3
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Capitalization:
Common Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock (a)(b)
Long-Term Debt (a)
Total Capitalization
(a)

Includes portions due within one year.

(b)

Excludes $100 million of MIPS.

(7.0)
1.0

(5.8)
0.7

40%
5
55

34%
5
61

34%
6
60

35%
6
59

36%
7
57

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

CONSOLIDATED SALES STATISTICS (UNAUDITED)

1999

1998

1997

1996

1995

$ 1,517,913
1,272,969
560,801
926,056
45,564
24,659
52,357

$ 1,475,363
1,273,146
568,913
336,623
47,682
22,479
16,429

$ 1,499,394
1,266,449
560,782
329,764
48,867
21,476
47,446

$1,501,465
1,246,822
565,900
315,577
48,053
8,360
23,513

$ 1,469,988
1,230,608
583,204
303,004
47,510
—
50,353

4,400,319
70,932

3,740,635
27,079

3,774,178
60,628

3,709,690
82,458

3,684,667
65,893

$ 4,471,251

$ 3,767,714

$ 3,834,806

$3,792,148

$ 3,750,560

Sales: (kWh — millions)
Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Other Utilities
Streetlighting and Railroads
Non-Franchised Sales

12,912
12,850
7,050
33,575
314
147

12,162
12,477
6,948
9,742
320
193

12,099
12,091
6,801
8,034
318
241

12,241
12,012
6,820
8,032
319
50

12,005
11,737
6,842
8,718
316
—

Total

66,848

41,842

39,584

39,474

39,618

Customers: (average)
Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Other

1,569,932
164,932
7,721
3,908

1,555,013
162,500
7,847
3,890

1,535,134
159,350
7,804
3,929

1,532,015
157,347
7,792
3,916

1,526,127
156,652
7,861
3,878

Total

1,746,493

1,729,250

1,706,217

1,701,070

1,694,518

8,243

7,799

7,898

8,005

Revenues: (thousands)
Residential
Commercial
Industrial
Other Utilities
Streetlighting and Railroads
Non-Franchised Sales
Miscellaneous
Total Electric
Other
Total

Average Annual Use Per Residential
Customer (kWh)
Average Annual Bill Per
Residential Customer
Average Revenue Per kWh:
Residential
Commercial
Industrial
(a)

$

969.38
11.76¢
9.91
7.95

$

946.80
12.14¢
10.20
8.19

$

978.72
12.39¢
10.47
8.25

Effective January 1, 1996, the amounts shown reflect billed and unbilled sales. 1995 has been restated to reflect this change.

$

980.19
12.27¢
10.38
8.30

7,880(a)
$

964.88(a)
12.24¢
10.49
8.52
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NORTHEAST UTILITES SYSTEM OFFICERS

NORTHEAST UTILITIES
SERVICE COMPANY
OFFICERS

ELECTRIC & GAS
OPERATING COMPANY
OFFICERS

John J. Roman
Vice President and Controller,
HWP, PSNH & WMECO

UNREGULATED COMPANY
OFFICERS

Michael G. Morris
Chairman, President
and Chief Executive Officer

CL&P – The Connecticut Light
and Power Company
HWP – Holyoke Water Power Company
PSNH – Public Service Company
of New Hampshire
WMECO – Western Massachusetts
Electric Company
Yankee – Yankee Gas Services Company

Richard L. Tower
Vice President-Eastern Region, CL&P

NGC – Northeast Generation Company

Michael G. Morris
Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, WMECO
Chairman, PSNH

John P. Stack
Controller, CL&P

William T. Frain, Jr.
President and Chief Executive
Officer, PSNH

Thomas V. Foley
Clerk, HWP

John H. Forsgren
Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer
Cheryl W. Grisé
Senior Vice President, Secretary
and General Counsel
Gary D. Simon
Senior Vice PresidentStrategy and Development
Gregory B. Butler
Vice PresidentGovernmental Affairs
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as of March 1, 2000

John B. Keane
Vice President-Administration

Charles E. Gooley
President and Chief Executive
Officer, Yankee

Mary Jo Keating
Vice President-Corporate
Communications

Kerry J. Kuhlman
President and Chief Operating
Officer, WMECO

Jean M. LaVecchia
Vice President-Human Resources
and Organizational Development

Hugh C. MacKenzie
President, CL&P & HWP

Keith R. Marvin
Vice President and Chief
Information Officer
David R. McHale
Vice President and Treasurer
John J. Roman
Vice President and Controller
Lisa J. Thibdaue
Vice President-Rates, Regulatory
Affairs and Compliance
Dennis E. Welch
Vice President-Environmental,
Safety and Ethics

Gary A. Long
Senior Vice President-PSNH
David H. Boguslawski
Vice President-Energy Delivery,
CL&P, PSNH & WMECO
J. Kingsley Fink
Vice President-Operations,Yankee
John B. Keane
Vice President-Generation
Divestiture, CL&P, PSNH &
WMECO

Robert J. Kost
Vice President-Western Region,
CL&P

Steven P. Laden
Vice President-Marketing and Sales
and External Affairs,Yankee
David R. McHale
Vice President and Treasurer,
HWP, PSNH & WMECO
William J. Nadeau
Vice President-Fossil/Hydro
Engineering and Operations,
HWP & PSNH

Rodney O. Powell
Vice President-Central Region, CL&P
Paul E. Ramsey
Vice President-Customer
Operations, PSNH

Roger C. Zaklukiewicz
Vice President-Transmission and
Distribution, CL&P, HWP & WMECO
Randy A. Shoop
Treasurer, CL&P

O. Kay Comendul
Secretary, CL&P, HWP & PSNH

Patricia A. Wood
Clerk, WMECO
NUCLEAR COMPANY
OFFICERS
NNECO – Northeast Nuclear
Energy Company
NAESCO – North Atlantic Energy
Service Company

Bruce D. Kenyon
President and Chief Executive
Officer, NNECO & NAESCO
Ted C. Feigenbaum
Executive Vice President and
Chief Nuclear Officer, NAESCO
Leon J. Olivier
Senior Vice President and
Chief Nuclear Officer, NNECO

HEC – HEC Inc.
NGS – Northeast Generation
Services Company
Select – Select Energy, Inc.

Bruce D. Kenyon
President and Chief
Executive Officer, NGS
President, NGC
William W. Schivley
President, Select
Thomas W. Philbin
President, HEC
Vice President-Energy Services,
Select
James B. Redden
Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer, HEC
Frank P. Sabatino
Senior Vice PresidentPower Marketing, Select
H. Donald Burbank
Vice PresidentCustomer Service, HEC
David S. Dayton
Vice President, HEC
Stephen J. Fabiani
Vice President-Retail Sales
and Marketing, Select
Linda A. Jensen
Vice President-Finance,
Treasurer and Clerk, HEC

Michael H. Brothers
Vice President-Nuclear
Operations, NNECO

David R. McHale
Vice President and Treasurer,
NGC, NGS & Select
Assistant Treasurer, HEC

John T. Carlin
Vice President-Human Services,
Nuclear, NNECO & NAESCO

William J. Nadeau
Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer, NGS

David R. McHale
Vice President and Treasurer,
NNECO & NAESCO

John J. Roman
Vice President and Controller,
NGC, NGS & Select

Raymond P. Necci
Vice President-Nuclear Technical
Services, NNECO

Marie A. Sullivan
Secretary, NGC, NGS & Select

John J. Roman
Vice President and Controller,
NNECO & NAESCO
Frank C. Rothen
Vice President-Nuclear Work
Services, NNECO
Marie A. Sullivan
Secretary, NNECO & NAESCO

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

FORM 10K

SHAREHOLDERS

As of January 31, 2000, there were 81,132 common shareholders of record of Northeast Utilities holding an aggregate
of 137,388,633 common shares.
COMMON SHARE INFORMATION

The common shares of Northeast Utilities are listed on the New
York Stock Exchange. The ticker symbol is “NU,” although it
is frequently presented as “Noeast Util” and/or “NE Util,” in
various financial publications. The high and low sales prices
and dividends paid for the past two years, by quarters, are
shown in the chart below.
Quarter

High

Low

Quarterly Dividend
Per Share

1999

First
Second
Third
Fourth

$16 7⁄16
18 5⁄16
19
22

$13 3⁄4
13 9⁄16
17 3⁄8
17 3⁄4

$0.00
0.00
0.00
0.10

1998

First
Second
Third
Fourth

$145⁄16
17
17 1⁄16
17 1⁄4

$1111⁄16
13 5⁄8
14 3⁄8
15 7⁄16

$0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

Year

Northeast Utilities will provide shareholders a copy of its 1999
Annual Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on
Form 10-K, including the financial statements and schedules thereto,
without charge, upon receipt of a written request sent to:
O. Kay Comendul
Assistant Secretary
Northeast Utilities
P.O.Box 270
Hartford, Connecticut 01641-0270

Northeast Utilities is the parent company of the
NU system (collectively referred to as NU). NU is
among the 20 largest electric utility systems in the
country and the largest in New England, with about
9,099 employees serving approximately 1.7 million
customers in Connecticut, New Hampshire and
western Massachusetts.
Current NU subsidiaries are listed below:

DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT PLAN

The company has a Dividend Reinvestment Plan under which
common shareholders may purchase additional common shares.
Northeast Utilities Service Company, Shareholder Services,
P.O. Box 5006, Hartford, Connecticut 06102-5006, is the
company’s dividend-paying agent and administers its Dividend
Reinvestment Plan.

ELECTRIC AND GAS OPERATING SUBSIDIARIES

The Connecticut Light and Power Company
Holyoke Water Power Company
Public Service Company of New Hampshire
Western Massachusetts Electric Company
North Atlantic Energy Corporation
Yankee Energy System, Inc.

TRANSFER AGENTS AND REGISTRARS

Northeast Utilities Service Company
Shareholder Services
P.O. Box 5006
Hartford, Connecticut 06102-5006
State Street Bank and Trust Company
Corporate Stock Transfer Department
P.O. Box 8200
Boston, Massachusetts 02266-8200
ANNUAL MEETING

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders of Northeast Utilities will be
held at 10:30 a.m. on May 9, 2000, at the Springfield Marriott,
Springfield, Massachusetts.
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NONUTILITY SUBSIDIARIES

NU Enterprises, Inc.

(unregulated businesses holding company)
HEC Inc.
(energy management)
Mode 1 Communications, Inc.
(telecommunications)
Northeast Generation Company
(generation ownership)
Northeast Generation Services Company
(generation services)
Select Energy, Inc.
(energy services)
SUPPORT SUBSIDIARIES

North Atlantic Energy Service Corporation
(Seabrook nuclear operations)
Northeast Nuclear Energy Company
(Millstone nuclear operations)
Northeast Utilities Service Company
(system-wide service)
R E A LT Y S U B S I D I A R I E S

Properties, Inc. (New Hampshire)
The Quinnehtuk Company (Massachusetts)
The Rocky River Realty Company(Connecticut)

Northeast Utilities
P.O. Box 270

Hartford, Connecticut 06141-0270
1-800-286-5000

www.nu.com

